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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good afternoon.

          3  Welcome to this first hearing on Intro. 67, which

          4  seeks to amend the Administrative Code of the City

          5  of New York in relation to prohibiting the City from

          6  doing business with institutions that engage

          7  directly or indirectly in predatory lending.

          8                 My name is Philip Reed and I'm the

          9  Chair of the City Council Consumer Affairs

         10  Committee.

         11                 The subprime refinance mortgage

         12  industry rose in value from $35 billion to $160

         13  billion in a period from 1994 to 1999.

         14                 The actual subprime refinance loans

         15  issued in the United States rose from 80,000 in 1993

         16  to 790,000 in 1998. Here in New York metropolitan

         17  area there were over 9,000 subprime refinance loans

         18  issued in 2000. This has become a very large

         19  industry.

         20                 Unfortunately, with all this growth

         21  problems have arisen. It is because of these

         22  problems that we are having this first hearing

         23  today.

         24                 Let me be clear: Subprime mortgages

         25  in and of themselves are not a bad thing. Subprime
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          2  mortgages allow a borrower with flawed credit to buy

          3  a home or refinance a mortgage; however, there is a

          4  portion of the subprime lending industry that has

          5  become predatory.

          6                 These subprime lenders, often working

          7  with unscrupulous mortgage brokers in home

          8  improvement contractors, prey on certain communities

          9  and groups, namely minorities, immigrants and

         10  seniors.

         11                 This predatory lending occurs where a

         12  subprime mortgage is granted to a borrower with the

         13  use of high pressured sales tactics combined with

         14  burdensome loan agreement terms without adequate

         15  disclosure in order to strip owners of their equity

         16  and increase the risk of foreclosure.

         17                 The anecdotal evidence on this

         18  subject is tremendous. Fraud, deception and lies are

         19  perpetrated on innocent people looking to secure a

         20  high-cost loan every day, and it is the City

         21  Council's obligation to examine this issue, and the

         22  effect that it's having on our citizens.

         23                 Studies have shown that predominantly

         24  black neighborhoods in New York City were four times

         25  more likely to rely on subprime lending as white
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          2  neighborhoods.

          3                 In fact, 31 percent of upper income

          4  African-Americans relied on subprime refinances as

          5  opposed to only 26 percent of low-income whites.

          6  This all results in higher rates, origin fees and

          7  the use of predatory practices.

          8                 Furthermore, it is estimated that

          9  between one-third and one-half of subprime borrowers

         10  would actually qualify for prime loan.

         11                 When a corporation or any of its

         12  affiliates are engaged in predatory practices, the

         13  City of New York should not, and with this

         14  legislation will not conduct business with them.

         15                 This legislation seeks to create

         16  thresholds that deal with points and fees, as well

         17  as the percent threshold above the prevailing yield

         18  on US treasury bonds. It combines this initial

         19  threshold with what can be predatory practices,

         20  ranging from balloon payments, to prepayment

         21  penalties, to advance payments to excessive points

         22  and fees.

         23                 It is a combination of these factors

         24  that constitute a predatory loan. Another important

         25  part of this bill is that it focuses on a growing
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          2  portion of the subprime industry, the securitization

          3  of subprime loans.

          4                 This is the first of at least two

          5  hearings. The second hearing is presently scheduled

          6  for April 22nd. We will be confirming that date a

          7  little further on.

          8                 At this particular hearing today, we

          9  are attempting to gather information, figure out

         10  what the problems are, and how best to attack them.

         11                 We may not be able to hear from

         12  everyone today, but we are taking a broad look at

         13  what we've proposed. We think this bill is a good

         14  first start to deal with this complex issue.

         15                 City Council staff has already met

         16  with a large number of parties interested in this

         17  bill.

         18                 As such, we are considering changes

         19  that will produce the best legislation on this

         20  issue. However, the intent of this legislation will

         21  not change. The City should not conduct business

         22  with those entities that engage either directly or

         23  indirectly with predatory lenders.

         24                 Having said that, I know we have

         25  several people who want to testify about this bill.
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          2  This bill has attracted a lot of attention, which

          3  means it's some importance in a lot of different

          4  areas, but I can't imagine as elected officials or

          5  as people who are citizens of the City of New York

          6  that anybody could be more important to hear from

          7  other than the people who have in fact had their

          8  lives ruined, certainly impacted as a consequence of

          9  these practices. And, so, we may be perhaps veering

         10  from tradition, and I apologize to those who feel

         11  that perhaps they should have spoken first on this,

         12  whether it's the industry or the Administration and

         13  we're looking forward to hearing the

         14  Administration's point of view, but we do want to

         15  hear from them but prior to that, one of the prime

         16  sponsors on this bill is Council Member James

         17  Sanders, Jr., from Queens, I know his community has

         18  been affected by this, and, so, he has asked if he

         19  could make a few opening remarks, as well.

         20                 Council Member Sanders.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 As a Council Member in the heart of

         24  the predatory lending bill, I'm gratified to be in

         25  this hearing today. On behalf of all those whose
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          2  dreams have been stolen by predatory lenders, I am

          3  glad to have been a prime mover on this bill. I urge

          4  all of my colleagues to keep an open mind and to let

          5  the truth of this matter speak for itself.

          6                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, he was

          8  serious when he said he was going to be brief.

          9                 Thank you, Council Member Sanders,

         10  for both the remarks and their brevity. There is no

         11  reflection on the importance of this bill.

         12                 Let me just introduce the rest of my

         13  colleagues, and for some reason, I can't see around

         14  the rest of them. Don't all lean back now.

         15                 Council Member Comrie from Queens,

         16  Council Member Sanders, Council Member Davis,

         17  Council Member Barron from Brooklyn, Council Member

         18  Koppell and Council Member Liu. Thank you all very

         19  much for being here, and I know that you all have

         20  some comments, I'd like to ask you to hold them

         21  until we have questions so we can begin.

         22                 Emma Charles. Ms. Charles, before you

         23  come up, if you could sign, there's a witness form

         24  that you need to sign.

         25                 Alberta Barnabas. Yes, Ma'am, I think
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          2  you've already signed. Please have a seat. Maybe we

          3  could get four seats up there at the same time, that

          4  would work.

          5                 Adelaide Kent. Yes, Ms. Kent, if you

          6  would join us. And Debra Schlossar.  Yes, Ma'am, and

          7  I think you also need to fill out a form, but we can

          8  bring it to you at the table, okay? Thank you.

          9                 And, Sergeant, if we could get an

         10  extra seat at the table, I'd appreciate it.

         11                 Thank you. We do want to hear from

         12  all of you. We want to hear your stories, but if you

         13  could also be conscious of keeping them as brief as

         14  possible. I know there will be some questions and

         15  then we will hear from other side of this so there

         16  will be some interaction perhaps later on. But I

         17  want to thank you all very much for coming, for the

         18  purposes of these hearings and others. I would like

         19  to ask all the witnesses to -- I would like to have

         20  the witnesses sworn in, and, so I would ask our

         21  Counsel, David Suchman, to do that for us.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         24  affirm that the testimony you will give here today

         25  will be the truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MS. SCHLOSSAR: Yes.

          3                 MS. KENT: Yes.

          4                 MS. CHARLES: Yes.

          5                 MS. BARNABAS: Yes.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          8                 Ms. Barnabas, would you like to

          9  start? And would you please, when you do, if you

         10  will push the button so the light is off, and tell

         11  us your name first, so when they're taping this we

         12  know whose exactly speaking, okay? Thank you.

         13                 MS. BARNABAS: Good afternoon. My name

         14  is Alberta Barnabas, and I live at 421 Franklin

         15  Avenue in Bedford Stuyvesant, Brooklyn.

         16                 I arrived in New York City from

         17  Panama in 1958, and it was always my dream to buy a

         18  home. I bought my house for $50,000 in 1991, I was

         19  very, very excited to finally be able to purchase my

         20  own home.

         21                 Soon after buying my home I needed a

         22  lot of money to fix it up. I tried to get a regular

         23  loan but my salary was not high enough to do it on

         24  my own.

         25                 One day my girlfriend's mother called
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          2  me because she had heard an advertisement on the

          3  radio. The company said that they would help

          4  low-income people get both loans and contracting

          5  work done. I called them up and right away someone

          6  made an appointment with me.

          7                 I fill out all his papers and soon

          8  after someone called me at my work. I met the

          9  company, Wholesale Remodelers, and they promised to

         10  do work to my house. We went from floor to floor

         11  looking at all the problems. I was excited to have

         12  them do the work that needed to be done, however,

         13  they were nothing but completely bad news.

         14                 From 1999 to 2000, they did terrible

         15  work, charging me more and more money for nothing.

         16  Drafts would come in, the roof never stopped

         17  leaking. Little did I know that the broker and the

         18  contractor both worked out of the same building.

         19                 Just to fix a simple plumbing

         20  problem, they charged me $18,500, when it really

         21  should have cost me $4,500.

         22                 Well, in September of 2000 they

         23  abandoned my house. I had no heat, no water, and my

         24  ground floor apartment was destroyed. In the end,

         25  the fees and closing costs on the loans totaled
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          2  $47,720, 80 percent of the total, and I have nothing

          3  to show for it.

          4                 Luckily, in the winter of 2000, I met

          5  Deborah Howard. She is the Director of Homeowner

          6  Services for the Pratt Area Community Council in

          7  Brooklyn.

          8                 She was giving a talk at Ft. Greene

          9  Senior Citizen's Center about the dangers of

         10  predatory loans, especially to seniors, single

         11  women, and people of color.

         12                 We made an appointment, and from

         13  there I started to smile. Pamela Sah, a lawyer at

         14  South Brooklyn Legal Services, helped me file a

         15  complaint with the Department of Consumer Affairs

         16  and I did get some money back.

         17                 Although I was facing foreclosure

         18  with the money I received from the Department of

         19  Consumer Affairs Settlement, I was able to make the

         20  mortgage payment barely.

         21                 One afternoon, the Department of

         22  Buildings even tried to seal up the building while I

         23  was inside. If I wasn't home I would have been in

         24  trouble. If I would have known that I would have had

         25  all these problems, I would have never bought this.
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          2  But the experience of fighting for my home against

          3  predatory lenders. Has made me stronger. I would cry

          4  one minute and laugh the next. But with the help of

          5  Deborah Howard and Pamela Sah, I hope to keep my

          6  home.

          7                 I would advise anyone interested in

          8  owning a home, and anyone concerned with justice, to

          9  vote to pass this bill. We need the support of the

         10  City Council. The worst threat of a community is

         11  predatory lending, and we must work very hard to get

         12  rid of it.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         15                 Ms. Adelaide Kent.

         16                 MS. KENT: Good afternoon,

         17  Commissioner, members of the Committee. My name is

         18  Adelaide Kent, and I am the Fiscal Manager of

         19  Selfhelp Community Services, Incorporated Community

         20  Guardian Program.

         21                 Selfhelp Community Services, Inc., is

         22  a not-for-profit organization, founded in 1936, by a

         23  small group of refugees fleeing Nazi persecution.

         24  Today Selfhelp has become one of New York City's

         25  most vital geriatric and home care agencies.
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          2                 Selfhelp has built an admirable

          3  record over the past 65 years. Men and women from

          4  six continents call our senior residences home.

          5  Other community organizations turn to us for

          6  training and home care services. The City and State

          7  rely on us for programs ranging from congregate

          8  meals for seniors, to support for families with

          9  Alzheimer's patients and for our guardianship

         10  programs.

         11                 Our programs have expanded over the

         12  years to embrace an increasingly diverse community.

         13  Today Selfhelp Community Services Inc. serves nearly

         14  20,000 New Yorkers and is recognized as one of the

         15  area's leading providers of services for the elderly

         16  and homebound.

         17                 The Community Guardian Program

         18  administers the guardianships to which Selfhelp is

         19  appointed by the Supreme Court of New York State.

         20                 Our clients come to us from adult

         21  protective services of the City, they are

         22  individuals for whom APS feels are in need of more

         23  assistance than APS can render.

         24                 The court has declared our clients

         25  legally incapacitated. I am here to speak on their
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          2  behalf.

          3                 I will speak briefly about the

          4  experience of three of our clients who have been

          5  victims of predatory lending practices by Delta

          6  Funding Corporation. One thing all these seniors

          7  have in common is that they had no debt prior to the

          8  Delta mortgages. In each case the interest rate was

          9  well above market rate, and closing costs were

         10  excessive, as were legal fees paid to the lenders'

         11  lawyers.

         12                 Emma is now 92. She took out a

         13  $109,000 mortgage from Delta Funding Corporation,

         14  relying on income from tenants to cover the monthly

         15  payments of $896.72.

         16                 When her tenants were unable to pay,

         17  she was faced with the loss of her home.

         18                 Ann is now 78. She wanted to make

         19  repairs to her house in 1996. A contractor helped

         20  her to attain a $90,000 30-year mortgage from Delta

         21  funding. He offered to pick up the check from the

         22  bank. Then he went off with the money.

         23                 Mary is now 88. A friendly neighbor

         24  helped her with her finances. He persuaded to add

         25  his name to the deed on her house. He then took out
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          2  a mortgage at 12 percent from Delta Funding

          3  Corporation in both their names and went off with

          4  the funds, leaving her with the debt, currently

          5  $172,629. She lives on Social Security and a small

          6  pension.

          7                 These elderly people are being helped

          8  to resolve their situations, but these debts have

          9  robbed them of their peace of mind, and threatened

         10  their efforts to remain in their homes for the rest

         11  of their lives.

         12                 "I would probably be out on the

         13  street now," Emma told me. It is thanks to

         14  organizations like ACORN, and the South Brooklyn

         15  Legal Services, as well as to pro bono efforts by

         16  the legal community, but there will be happy endings

         17  to these stories.

         18                 But a more consistent approach to the

         19  issue of predatory lending is necessary. The

         20  existence of easy credit at absorbinant rates makes

         21  exploitations of elders with real property too easy.

         22  Predatory lending practices can ruin lives. It robs

         23  people of their dignity, it increases the demand for

         24  services to assist the dispossessed, it hurts the

         25  social fabric of neighborhoods.
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          2                 The mandate of my program is to help

          3  our wards remain in the community, to live with

          4  dignity on the resources available to them. I

          5  endorse your efforts on their behalf. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Ms.

          7  Debra Schlossar. Am I saying that correctly?

          8                 MS. SCHLOSSAR: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         10                 MS. SCHLOSSAR: Good afternoon, ladies

         11  and gentlemen. My name is Debra Schlossar. I live at

         12  133-39 244th Street in Rosedale, Queens, and this is

         13  my story.

         14                 I came to ACORN in August of 2001,

         15  with hopes of catching up with my Ameriquest

         16  mortgage. My original mortgage was with Countrywide

         17  Mortgage Company for $134,000. I had a nine percent

         18  interest rate in 1997. In 1998, however, I

         19  refinanced my mortgage with Ameriquest to help pay

         20  off some debt for $152,000. Three years later, I had

         21  refinanced two other times and was paying off a

         22  mortgage of 192,000.

         23                 The first time I tried to refinance

         24  out of Ameriquest, I called to ask for a pay-off

         25  letter, but instead they offered me a refinance deal
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          2  that seemed to be a better deal, so I stayed with

          3  Ameriquest because I trusted them, and they held the

          4  mortgage to my home.

          5                 Each time I refinanced I paid out

          6  substantial closing costs, and was given what is

          7  called an adjustable rider, which has increased my

          8  interest rate from nine percent to 11 percent and

          9  has the potential to go as high as 16 percent.

         10                 I was in a position to afford my

         11  original mortgage with Countrywide Mortgage Co., but

         12  with each refinance, my mortgage, interest rate, and

         13  monthly payment reached the point where I could not

         14  afford to make the payments.

         15                 I had not had any homebuyer

         16  counseling or any advice from an attorney, so I had

         17  no idea that my closing costs, which amounted over

         18  $10,000, were eating up the amount of equity in my

         19  home.

         20                 My mortgage went up to $60,000 within

         21  four years, which each refinance putting me further

         22  in debt, so the only choice I had was to keep

         23  borrowing to stay afloat.

         24                 Counseling is an important measure on

         25  the front end to alert all home-owners about the
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          2  potential dangers of refinancing.

          3                 It is a valuable tool to keep

          4  borrowers from falling into a trap set by some of

          5  these lenders. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Ms. Charles.

          9                 MS. CHARLES: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Emma Charles. I live in Brooklyn, in the Flatbush

         11  area.

         12                 In August 2000, I refinanced my

         13  mortgage, which was with Countrywide Home Loans, and

         14  I consolidated three home improvement loans, which I

         15  had taken out with the Money Store Green Tree and

         16  Canseco Finance, home improvement -- these were home

         17  improvement loans.

         18                 I have since refinanced with

         19  Beneficial Home Finance Service/household

         20  Corporation.

         21                 In May 2000, I received a check from

         22  Beneficial, it was an unsolicited check, for $5,000,

         23  indicating that if I should sign the check and

         24  deposit it in the bank, you know, I have a loan. So,

         25  at the time I was in financial need, so I did sign
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          2  the check and deposited it in my account.

          3                 And a couple of months after I

          4  received a letter from them stating that if I need

          5  further additional, you know, additional financial

          6  assistance, that they would help me.

          7                 So, I called the office and asked

          8  them if they would consolidate my home improvement

          9  loans. At that time they told me that they would get

         10  back to me.

         11                 A couple of weeks after, I received a

         12  call from them stating that they will consolidate a

         13  loan, however, I would have to refinance my mortgage

         14  with them.

         15                 I expressed my concern that I did not

         16  want to do that, since my mortgage rate at the time

         17  was only 7.75 percent. That was my rate with

         18  Countrywide. I told them -- they then convinced me

         19  that I should not worry, because they will give me a

         20  good rate.

         21                 A couple of days after I received a

         22  call from them stating that the interest rate they

         23  can offer me will not be the same, but, however, it

         24  will be -- you know, it will be low but not exactly

         25  the same, and it will not be more than ten percent.
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          2  And it will be -- it would significantly be less

          3  than my monthly payments.

          4                 After all was said and done, I ended

          5  up paying out 16,805 in settlement costs for the

          6  financing, and I received the check at closing for

          7  over $7,000, which I didn't ask them for, which

          8  increased my debt to $24,300 plus, with a monthly

          9  payment of close to $400 a month, which did not

         10  include my property taxes and my homeowners'

         11  insurance.

         12                 I lost $24,895 in home equity, and I

         13  have a monthly mortgage that I cannot afford. I

         14  found out that the use of live checks, live checks

         15  in the mail is a common tactic for household

         16  finance.

         17                 I hope this Council can devise some

         18  measures to stop the company from doing predatory

         19  loans.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Charles.

         23                 Thank you, all. I want you to stay

         24  seated.

         25                 I also understand how difficult
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          2  sometimes in these cases it is to come forward,

          3  because I've been in maybe not the same situation,

          4  but you feel foolish, you feel like you've been

          5  taken. You don't want to have to explain this story

          6  to people, but somehow -- people will ask you

          7  sometimes, well, how did you let this happen? Well,

          8  certainly from your stories this could happen to

          9  anybody, and I thank you for having the courage to

         10  come forward, explain this so that you can help us

         11  figure out a way to secure other people from not

         12  having this similar experience.

         13                 There is someone else at the table.

         14  Did you have some testimony, Ma'am, that you

         15  submitted? Have you had a chance to sign in?

         16                 MS. MAITLAND: No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right, why

         18  don't you take the microphone, and tell us your

         19  name. Before you leave, though, you need to sign a

         20  witness statement for us, okay?

         21                 MS. MAITLAND: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         23                 MS. MAITLAND: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Camille Maitland. I am a first time homebuyer and

         25  almost bought a house that needed over $30,000 worth
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          2  of work due to extensive termite damage without any

          3  disclosure by the seller.

          4                 I found this house while driving

          5  around Clinton Hill looking for a for sale sign. I

          6  was told by the owner that Filmore Realty was a real

          7  estate agent involved and that she would have

          8  Filmore call me.

          9                 The gentleman from Filmore called me

         10  and asked if I had an attorney. I did not. So, he

         11  suggested one for me.

         12                 The Filmore Broker told me to meet

         13  him at the Attorney's Office and we would move

         14  forward from there.

         15                 When I got there, the Filmore broker,

         16  the attorney, and Premier Mortgage Bankers, the

         17  mortgage company, were waiting for me.

         18                 Premier offered me a 7.5 percent

         19  fixed rate on the mortgage, and they told me that I

         20  would not have to pay any closing costs, that it

         21  would be part of my mortgage.

         22                 I was then told that the seller, the

         23  seller's attorney was the brother of my attorney

         24  that was assigned to me. I was nervous but was

         25  assured by all parties present that my attorney was
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          2  advocating for me 100 percent.

          3                 I signed the application for the

          4  mortgage and I signed the purchase contract.

          5                 I did make sure there was a clause in

          6  the contract that said I was protected, and could

          7  get my deposit back if there were any signs of

          8  termite damage.

          9                 From that point on, the interest rate

         10  kept changing, even though they had told me it was

         11  fixed and no one disclosed to me what the closing

         12  costs would be.

         13                 Not until I attended a first-time

         14  home buyer seminar at my church, and spoke to a loan

         15  counselor, did I realize that this might not be such

         16  a great deal. At that point I became very suspicious

         17  and did some more digging and found that their

         18  father owned Filmore, the real estate broker,

         19  Premier Mortgage Bankers, the mortgage company, and

         20  Midland Mortgage the lender. This made me feel very

         21  unprotected. No one had ever disclosed this to me

         22  before. On the advice of my counselor, I sent out an

         23  engineer who told me that there were severe termite

         24  damage.

         25                 When I brought this information back
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          2  to my attorney, he said, oh, yes, the termite

          3  inspection did come back positive for termites. I

          4  told him that according to my contractor it would

          5  cost around $33,000 to repair the damage and that I

          6  wanted to negotiate the price down.

          7                 He told me that we should go ahead

          8  and close anyway and that we would have a better

          9  chance negotiating at the closing table.

         10                 He was obviously not advocating for

         11  me in any way. My counsel and I decided it would be

         12  best to cancel the closing and negotiate a price

         13  right away. I have seen been advised by an attorney,

         14  who was looking out for my interests, and I have

         15  applied for a mortgage with a reputable bank.

         16                 Who knows how many other people have

         17  had similar experience with Filmore. Thanks to my

         18  ACORN loan counselor, I am no longer trapped in a

         19  triangle, when just a few days earlier I felt there

         20  was no way out.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, again.

         23                 I'm sorry, your name, Ma'am? I didn't

         24  hear you.

         25                 MS. MAITLAND: Camille Maitland.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Maitland?

          3                 MS. MAITLAND: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Maitland. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 My colleagues, if you have questions?

          7                 Council Member Barron.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: First, let me

          9  say that I applaud your courage for coming forth. We

         10  couldn't have labeled this behavior any better than

         11  "predatory," I think that's certainly a proper name

         12  for this kind of behavior. But it seems to me, and

         13  if one or two of you can speak to this, and I know

         14  the last witness, that independent counseling seems

         15  to be critical in preventing a lot of these

         16  predatory behavior and cutting off a lot of stuff,

         17  because I feel strongly that if others had that kind

         18  of counseling, maybe a lot of this could have been

         19  avoided, and just to speak to the value of

         20  counseling that could have probably helped the

         21  others in making the right decisions and bailing out

         22  when you need to bail out.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Anyone want to

         24  speak to that? And perhaps, if you didn't have --

         25  the question I think was, the counseling that you
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          2  did get was critical to try and undo this wrong?

          3                 MS. MAITLAND: For me it was

          4  absolutely critical.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Identify yourself

          6  when you speak, okay?

          7                 MS. MAITLAND: Oh, I'm sorry. My name

          8  is Camille Maitland, and the counseling for me was

          9  critical because I did feel trapped in a triangle

         10  situation. I didn't know where to turn, and the

         11  counselor really helped me with advice and knowledge

         12  that I wasn't aware of before.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         14  Sanders.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.

         17                 Let the record show that I've never

         18  met these women before today, and further, my

         19  district covers Rosedale, Springfield Gardens,

         20  Laurelton, South Ozone Park, Cambria Heights and

         21  half of the Rockaways. I believe that one of you are

         22  my constituents, is there another constituent here,

         23  or is it just one person from my part of town?

         24                 Mr. Chair, again, I just -- please.

         25                 MS. SCHLOSSAR: Yes. My name is Debra
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          2  Schlossar, and I live in Rosedale, Queens.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you.

          4                 I do also want to applaud you for --

          5  all of you for your courage to come out, because it

          6  is very necessary to make sure that if we find

          7  ourselves having fallen into a hole, that we sound

          8  an alarm so no one else in back of us falls into the

          9  same hole when this thing continues.

         10                 So, I just wanted to bring this to

         11  the attention of my colleagues, that we, too, up

         12  here have the ability to sound the alarm, and that's

         13  what this legislation, in part, is to do.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 MS. SCHLOSSAR: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Davis.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I echo the

         19  sentiments of my colleagues.

         20                 I think I heard you say Clinton Hill?

         21  Did someone say Clinton Hill? All right. My area is

         22  Crown Heights, Prospect Heights, Clinton Hill and

         23  Ft. Greene.

         24                 I heard someone testify earlier that

         25  through a counseling by way of a church, some church
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          2  counseling, I know that Pratt Area Community

          3  Council, I was with them a little earlier as we

          4  fought for you, and I know that that fight

          5  continues.

          6                 Are we reaching out in addition to

          7  the churches, the synagogues, all the other

          8  community-based organizations? I think ACORN is

          9  doing a good job at this, but are we also reaching

         10  out? Are there any other community-based

         11  organizations that I think we have to sound the

         12  alarm that everybody is involved in this, and I

         13  think that in my office, that any time -- we'll have

         14  a hot line, if you will, maybe all the Council

         15  members, that anybody who is purchasing any

         16  properties can come directly to our office and we

         17  will be able to make those contacts, not only with

         18  Consumer Affairs, but with the Department of

         19  Buildings to make sure that our office provides some

         20  type of connection.

         21                 So, my office is available to make

         22  that happen, and I'm sure that my colleagues office

         23  will also be available to make that happen.

         24                 Other than the churches, were there

         25  any other community-based organizations that you
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          2  found that you were able to reach out to for

          3  counseling?

          4                 MS. BARNABAS: Mine was Pratt Area

          5  Community Council.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Pratt Area

          7  Community Council was pretty much the only one? All

          8  right, so maybe we can make sure that there are

          9  other organizations that also have this important

         10  information.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         13  Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You say in

         15  your statement that these loans from Delta Funding

         16  were at above market rate with high closing costs

         17  and high legal fees.

         18                 MS. KENT: Yes, sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You don't

         20  need to give it to me now, but I'd like to get the

         21  record on that.

         22                 MS. KENT: I'll be happy to make sure

         23  that my office forwards it to you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Please.

         25                 MS. KENT: I don't have the exact
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          2  specifics on all three loans with me now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

          4                 Also, in at least two of the three

          5  cases, obviously there were middle men who were

          6  wrong-doers.

          7                 MS. KENT: Yes, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I'm

          9  wondering -- I mean, do you blame Delta Funding for

         10  them, or do you think Delta Funding was in lead with

         11  them, or they could have discovered that they were?

         12                 MS. KENT: What I think is that Delta

         13  Funding and other organizations of its nature make

         14  it easier for these exploiters to prey on the

         15  elderly, the vulnerable and the innocent, and that's

         16  what I don't like about them.

         17                 There will always be bad people out

         18  there wanting to take money away from people who

         19  can't protect themselves.

         20                 Nothing can stop that, no law can do

         21  it, but we can stop Delta Funding and people like

         22  that from making it easier for them, and that's why

         23  I'm here.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, how would

         25  we do that? I mean, do you have a suggestion on

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  that? Should a person over a certain age have to get

          3  some sort of approval? I mean, that would be

          4  insulting, I think, to some of the elderly, right?

          5                 MS. KENT: I think I might be

          6  insulted, my husband is 70 years old.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm just -- I

          8  think it is a problem.

          9                 MS. KENT: It is a problem.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm trying to

         11  figure out a solution to the problem, and maybe --

         12  can you think of any way?

         13                 MS. KENT: Well, I think Mr. Davis has

         14  made an excellent suggestion, that the City Council

         15  members and other legislative members in the City,

         16  assemblymen, perhaps even Congressmen, might get

         17  involved in serving as clearinghouses for the kind

         18  of information their constituents need, in order to

         19  make informed decisions about purchasing homes, and

         20  refinancing, because this is scary territory for a

         21  lot of people, and knowing that they could go to

         22  someone objective whom they trust, who was elected

         23  by them to serve their interests, would be helpful.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do you know

         25  if there's any current register available where you
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          2  could check out companies to see whether they've

          3  been accused of wrongdoing, or anything of that

          4  sort?

          5                 MS. KENT: I am not currently aware of

          6  that, but I'm not an attorney. So there may well be

          7  information available that is not within my

          8  knowledge as a layperson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I thought

         10  maybe your agency had lists of companies.

         11                 MS. KENT: Unfortunately, no. We don't

         12  prevent the damage, we deal with the consequences.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you all very much for being

         16  here. We welcome you to stay with us for the rest of

         17  this afternoon. I'm sure we'll be wanting to ask you

         18  questions, perhaps even privately, about how things

         19  are coming along. But, again, thank you very much

         20  for being here with us.

         21                 Next, Commissioner Dykstra. Thank you

         22  for your patience. And Alan Anders, from the Office

         23  of Management and Budget, please come and join us.

         24                 Commissioner, how are you?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Fine, thanks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you for your

          3  patience. I wanted to make sure -- and you can

          4  introduce the panel, if you want, but I wanted you

          5  to recognize that the first witness today wanted to

          6  thank the Department of Consumer Affairs for the

          7  work that they did for them. So, I wanted you to be

          8  sure to hear that first and foremost.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes, well, we

         10  appreciate that. I thought that was a very creative

         11  way to start today anyway.

         12                 OMB is going to go first.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         14                 MR. ANDERS: Good afternoon. I am Alan

         15  Anders, I'm the Deputy Director for Finance at OMB

         16  and have a leading role in financing the City's

         17  capital program, and I have with me Marjorie

         18  Henning, who is General Counsel for OMB.

         19                 We have a short prepared statement

         20  I'd like to read, if that's acceptable?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please do.

         22                 MR. ANDERS: Thank you for the

         23  opportunity to testify on Intro. 67. This

         24  legislation would prohibit the City from doing

         25  business with institutions and their affiliates that
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          2  engage in predatory lending practices. The

          3  legislation would also reach banks and dealers that

          4  innocently market securities backed by pools of

          5  mortgages that may include predatory loans, as

          6  defined.

          7                 While OMB supports the effort to

          8  crack down on predatory lending, we strongly oppose

          9  this legislation.

         10                 It would severely undermine the

         11  City's ability to issue debt obligations, and would

         12  call into question the City's ability to continue

         13  its capital program.

         14                 In addition, if passed, the

         15  legislation would make it much more difficult for

         16  OMB and other City agencies to find institutions

         17  that provide essential financial services to the

         18  City.

         19                 The proposed bill, in addition to

         20  prohibiting direct contracts with predatory lenders,

         21  would prohibit contracts with underwriters, broker

         22  dealers, letter of credit banks, trustees, paying

         23  agents and other financial institutions whose

         24  affiliates extend credit whether directly or

         25  indirectly through a warehouse or other similar
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          2  facility, to a subprime lender that engaged in

          3  predatory lending.

          4                 Furthermore, it would prohibit

          5  contracts with financial institutions that merely

          6  act as placement agents for the securitization of

          7  mortgage loans that may include a single predatory

          8  loan made by an unrelated institution.

          9                 The bill, therefore, is likely to

         10  disqualify all investment banks, whether they are

         11  purchasing bonds on a competitive or negotiated

         12  basis, letter of credit banks, and other financial

         13  institutions, that provide vital services to the

         14  City in connection with the City's debt obligations.

         15                 This is because these financial

         16  institutions would not be able to confirm that

         17  institutions they may loan funds to or place

         18  securities for are not, directly or through

         19  affiliates, engaged in predatory lending as defined

         20  in the local law.

         21                 Consequently, this would call into

         22  question the City's ability to sell its bonds and to

         23  continue its capital program.

         24                 Additionally, the proposed

         25  legislation would make it much more difficult for
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          2  OMB and other City agencies to engage institutions

          3  for other financial services.

          4                 City agencies, as you know, do tens

          5  of millions of dollars in business with banks for

          6  such services as employee payroll, revenue

          7  collection, cash management, asset custody, and

          8  ordinary deposit accounts.

          9                 These services are vital for the

         10  operation of City government, and, therefore,

         11  enactment of this legislation would severely hinder

         12  the day-to-day functioning of New York City

         13  government.

         14                 Furthermore, compliance with this law

         15  would be extremely onerous and expensive for banks.

         16  There's a risk that banks wishing to avoid

         17  regulation would simply elect not to do business

         18  with the City, resulting in a limited number of

         19  firms that furnish such services to the City.

         20                 Ultimately this would increase the

         21  cost of engaging firms to provide financial

         22  services.

         23                 We very much understand the

         24  importance of this subject, and the good intentions

         25  of the members of the Council here today and their
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          2  guests who are testifying.

          3                 However, the vast infrastructure

          4  needs of the City require the issuance of billions

          5  of dollars of general obligation debt each year, and

          6  this legislation, however inadvertently, would make

          7  it virtually impossible for the City to sell that

          8  debt, which as Council members know is essential to

          9  the safety, health and well-being of very person in

         10  the City.

         11                 Therefore, OMB respectfully must

         12  oppose this bill, and we'd be happy to answer any

         13  questions later.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Anders.

         17                 Commissioner Dykstra.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Good afternoon.

         19  Good afternoon, Chairman Reed and members of the

         20  Consumer Affairs Committee. I'm Gretchn Dykstra,

         21  Commissioner of Consumer Affairs, and I thank you

         22  for this opportunity.

         23                 I also thank you for giving the four

         24  women we just heard from an opportunity to testify.

         25  Their words were helpful to me and humanizes the
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          2  problem for all of us.

          3                 Today I'd like to flesh out our

          4  proposed approach and explain why this legislation,

          5  while well intentioned, may not be the most

          6  effective way to help us address the problem.

          7                 As we've heard today, predatory

          8  lending can occur with the purchase of a new home,

          9  the refinancing of a mortgage or the purchase of

         10  home improvements.

         11                 Josh Zinner of South Brooklyn Legal

         12  Services says, and I quote, "the most prevalent

         13  predatory practice is the refinance loan... where

         14  brokers or contractors acting essentially as

         15  birddogs for lenders, go door to door in low-income

         16  neighborhoods. Their target is the working poor,

         17  someone who bought their house cheap, or their

         18  family bought it way back in the 50's and the 60's,

         19  and now property values have gone up; but the person

         20  is no longer working and is on a fixed income."

         21                 The legislation in front of us tries

         22  to deal with the problem by holding the final

         23  lenders liable for deceptive practices that were

         24  perpetrated by others on the homeowners at a much

         25  earlier point in time.
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          2                 This is a laudable and imaginative

          3  proposal, but we do not believe it will stop the

          4  practice, and that should be the goal.

          5                 We also have serious concerns that it

          6  casts its net too broadly and fails to recognize

          7  complex economic forces at play.

          8                 DCA wants to focus closer to the

          9  problem. DCA wants to help the consumers directly by

         10  focusing on those who push the paper... the real

         11  estate brokers and the home improvement contractors.

         12                 Number one: DCA, as you know,

         13  licenses home improvement contractors and will focus

         14  its activities in the communities that are most at

         15  risk of unscrupulous home improvement contractors

         16  who often push those predatory lending schemes.

         17                 We will use our legal authority to

         18  ferret out unscrupulous contractors and put them out

         19  of business. If we are dealing with a licensed

         20  contractor, his license will be revoked and we will

         21  refer him to the appropriate DA for criminal

         22  prosecution. If he is unlicensed, we will confiscate

         23  any vehicle used in the course of his home

         24  improvement work to stop him in his tracks.

         25                 Two: A recent court case gave DCA
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          2  jurisdiction over real estate companies that sell

          3  homes, arrange financing and other services for

          4  consumers. Now we can pursue litigation against such

          5  companies who foist predatory loans on unsuspected

          6  consumers and we intend to do so.

          7                 We will refer such cases to the New

          8  York State Banking Department to take away the

          9  broker's licenses if they engage in deceptive

         10  practices.

         11                 Three: We intend to work with

         12  traditional lenders to discourage them from

         13  enforcing loans, which they may have purchased

         14  without knowledge of the underlining deceptive trade

         15  practices.

         16                 In one such instance a contractor had

         17  helped homeowners get loans for big jobs but then

         18  did almost no work. DCA persuaded a major national

         19  lender, Green Financial, now Canseco, to forgive all

         20  or part of the loans in approximately ten instances.

         21                 Number four: Legislatively, we

         22  believe that the most effective remedy would be to

         23  hold liable anyone seeking to foreclose on a

         24  mortgage that erodes from a predatory loan.

         25                 The New York State Legislature is
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          2  currently considering such a law.

          3                 In addition, we shall seek the

          4  support of a New York State Banking Association to

          5  require a separate license for any home improvement

          6  contractor distributing financing paper or brokering

          7  loans.

          8                 Our best partners have been the

          9  lawyers at South Brooklyn Legal Services, who have

         10  special funding to represent seniors and dangers of

         11  losing their homes and were instrumental in

         12  establishing the Citywide Foreclosure Prevention

         13  Task Force.

         14                 We typically assist each other in

         15  cases where there is foreclosure action based on a

         16  loan which involved a home improvement contract.

         17                 Five: We also need to embark on a

         18  concerted education project in the communities at

         19  risk for these predatory lending practices, and to

         20  work to direct them to available prime lending

         21  options.

         22                 To this end, we are already working

         23  with a Fair Lending coalition that includes the New

         24  York Bankers Association, the FCC, the Better

         25  Business Bureau, the AARP, New York Attorney
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          2  General's Office, the NAACP, the Association of the

          3  Bar, the New York Urban League, and the New York

          4  City Human Rights Commission.

          5                 More needs to be done, and we hope to

          6  convince financial institutions to help us do this.

          7                 Many of the banks, which may be swept

          8  up in the broad parameters of this legislation are

          9  part of the solution and we need to bring them

         10  onboard, not throw them overboard.

         11                 Moreover, determining which lenders

         12  can be held accountable under the proposed

         13  legislation could divert the limited resources we

         14  have in pursuing predatory lending practices.

         15                 The difficulty is in the interplay of

         16  the definition of lender affiliate and predatory

         17  loan. And the exceptions provide such a wide

         18  loophole lenders will be able to walk through it

         19  that can only result in protracted litigation that

         20  comes at the expense of City resources, especially

         21  those of DCA.

         22                 Rather than divert the limited

         23  resources of the City, aren't our efforts better

         24  spent at preventing the problem in the first place

         25  and targeting the real culprits.
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          2                 The bottom line is that this

          3  legislation looks tough, but it won't solve the

          4  problem. DCA's mission is to foster a marketplace

          5  the consumers can trust, and in which honest

          6  businesses can thrive. DCA is committed to doing

          7  everything possible within the constraints of our

          8  resources to educate consumers, go after the real

          9  culprits of the crime, and partner with

         10  not-for-profits, government groups, yes, and banks

         11  that are at the front line of this problem.

         12                 DCA looks forward to working with you

         13  and thanks you for this opportunity.

         14                 Andy Eiler and Bob Martin, my General

         15  Counsel, will answer any questions, if you have

         16  them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you,

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 My sense of this Administration and

         20  certainly of you is that this is a problem that you

         21  do face and want to address aggressively. I think

         22  the message, or what we're talking about here, I am

         23  struck in your testimony about several things, but

         24  you said on page two, our best partners have been

         25  the lawyers at the South Brooklyn Legal Services. I
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          2  would ask Mr. Anders of OMB, what's the budget for

          3  South Brooklyn Legal Services this year?

          4                 MR. ANDERS: I don't have the answer

          5  for that. I can get it for you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I would like

          7  somebody from our staff, if we could look to see if

          8  that budget is being proposed to be cut, because the

          9  last time I checked, all the programs for legal

         10  services were being cut and we were looking to

         11  restore them. So, perhaps we could clear that up

         12  before next April 22nd.

         13                 MR. ANDERS: Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And, Commissioner,

         15  I have to applaud you for getting through this

         16  alphabet here, because I was betting against you

         17  here, but you got through there.

         18                 I guess a couple of the concerns, and

         19  I know several of my colleagues want to ask

         20  questions, we have many other people to testify, but

         21  you talk about the limited budget that your office

         22  has and how difficult enforcement, et cetera, et

         23  cetera, is to be in this, but isn't that really the

         24  responsibility of the Comptroller's Office? Wouldn't

         25  we be deferring to look at these issues with the
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          2  banks to the Comptroller's Office? I'm not sure why,

          3  if we pass this law, it would put such a dent or an

          4  onerous responsibility on your agency?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Bob, do you

          6  want to answer that?

          7                 This is Bob Martin, the General

          8  Counsel of DCA.

          9                 MR. MARTIN: Good afternoon. Thank

         10  you. I think the answer to the question is part of

         11  the bill that we're concerned about is that it could

         12  have affect on what we call upstream lending

         13  institutions that were not involved in the initial

         14  harm to consumers to home-owners, which we certainly

         15  see.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Sorry. Just tell us

         17  who you are for the record.

         18                 MR. MARTIN: My name is Bob Martin.

         19  Robert Martin. I'm the General Counsel at the

         20  Department of Consumer Affairs.

         21                 So, a big part of our concern about

         22  the legislation as it's drafted now would be the

         23  affect on institutions that weren't -- that have not

         24  been at the focal point of the harm that we see, and

         25  we do see that harm.
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          2                 We think that the most appropriate

          3  way to go after the problem is to, at an earlier

          4  point in time, focus on the deceptive trade

          5  practices and the other harm that's happening to

          6  homeowners. We want to focus our enforcement efforts

          7  at the Department of Consumer Affairs in going after

          8  unscrupulous home improvement contractors because

          9  that's our bread and butter. They're the people that

         10  we license, and also, pursuing these one-stop

         11  shopping real estate companies, and other companies,

         12  business people that may be out there seeking to

         13  deceive homeowners.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I think I

         15  understood you, but I'm not sure you heard my

         16  question.

         17                 My question was, the Commissioner

         18  said that this bill would cause you in a financially

         19  strapped moment here in the agency a lot of extra

         20  work.

         21                 My question was, isn't the

         22  responsibility for enforcement primarily with the

         23  Comptroller's Office? I'm not sure how this has an

         24  adverse impact on your, DCA's budget?

         25                 MR. MARTIN: Well, I think that that's
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          2  true that it's the Comptroller's responsibility or

          3  maybe OMB's responsibility to deal with the

          4  financial institutions that do business with the

          5  City. We will keep doing our job, which is to be out

          6  there in the communities doing what we do best,

          7  which is enforcing our licensing law.

          8                 Having said that, we do need to pick

          9  and choose to a certain extent so that we can zero

         10  in and do the things that are most productive in

         11  getting at the problem, and I hope that I have

         12  answered your question.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: When you take,

         14  Commissioner -- you're talking about another end of

         15  this, or there's a lot of different points where the

         16  person is being abused.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And your concern

         19  and concern of a lot of people in the financial

         20  world is the impact on the banks. I'm not sure

         21  there's a great deal of sympathy up here at this

         22  table, but I think we understand what it could do in

         23  terms of the City's borrowing. But at the end where

         24  you were talking about, are there penalties? In

         25  other words, so you say there's these contractors,
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          2  home improvement.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's hard to think

          5  of it as an improvement, I think that's what the

          6  difficulty was.

          7                 Besides taking their licenses away,

          8  do you have the authority now to issue fines and

          9  penalties?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: If they're

         11  licensed, we do. If they're unlicensed, this is why

         12  we're eager for hearing authority. We do not. We

         13  have to then file a suit in state court.

         14                 Unless it's deceptive advertising, in

         15  which case it's they're breaking the consumer

         16  protection law, in which case we can go after them.

         17  It's just a question of in which body we'll hear

         18  that case.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, that I think

         20  also raises the problem that we talked about at our

         21  first hearing about you say you can take them to

         22  court, but the problem has been with a lot of DCA,

         23  which I think we want to look at to help you with,

         24  the enforcement, or actually getting them to court

         25  and getting a judgment one way or the other.
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          2                 Because we actually really have to

          3  rely on the State to take them to court, right? So,

          4  if the State isn't as sympathetic, you could do all

          5  that work, but there's no recourse. Those people

          6  never end up in court. That's a problem that we had

          7  when we talked about some other issues, right?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Right. That's

          9  true.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, we've got two

         11  things to solve here.

         12                 Mr. Martin.

         13                 MR. MARTIN: I'll add one more word,

         14  which is, we would like not to run the risk of

         15  getting caught up in looking at the upstream lenders

         16  and having to identify whether they have done any

         17  wrongdoing or knew about any wrongdoing, that's an

         18  involved process. And although we have gone after

         19  the bad actors diligently that are closer to the

         20  point of harm, it does create a real resource

         21  problem for us.

         22                 We have enough difficulty going after

         23  the people that really scam the homeowner to start

         24  with, and, so, that's really part of our concern.

         25                 And by the way, we do have the
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          2  ability to go into Supreme Court under our Consumer

          3  Protection Law, which we did in the case that the

          4  Commissioner mentioned, and we can do that as well

          5  as the State.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I want to recognize

          7  Council Members Koppell, Sanders and Barron, in that

          8  order.

          9                 Council Member Koppell.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         11                 I note in your testimony,

         12  Commissioner, you say "we seek the support of New

         13  York State Banking Association to require a separate

         14  license for any home improvement contractor carrying

         15  financing papers or brokering loans. Can we do that?

         16  Are you suggesting that the Council can do that, or

         17  do you think you need State Legislation?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: I think we need

         19  state, but if you tell me the Council can do it, we

         20  would love to work with you on that.

         21                 You know, to get a Home Improvement

         22  Contract, you have to actually pass a test, and then

         23  also apply for the license.

         24                 If they're carrying the paper, we

         25  think one effective way to stop them would be to
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          2  actually make them pass a test and get a license to

          3  broker the loans.

          4                 If they didn't, we could come down

          5  more harshly on them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think since

          7  we license them already, as Council, and we don't

          8  need to decide it now, but I would suggest we can do

          9  it with or without the support of the New York State

         10  Banking Association.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: All the better.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I would be

         13  happy to have their support --

         14                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Great.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But I

         16  wouldn't suggest that it would be essential.

         17                 If we can do it as a Council, I think

         18  that's a good first step, Mr. Chairman, and I would

         19  propose we look into that, that there be a special

         20  license where a broker becomes the intermediary in

         21  obtaining a loan, and, you know, I think there's a

         22  lot of problems with them doing it all together.

         23  Maybe they should be prohibited, I don't know.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: There is such a

         25  case, and maybe Bob knows better than me, in
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          2  Massachusetts, where they're trying to outlaw home

          3  improvement contractors from carrying the paper, but

          4  I think most people think it's not going to withhold

          5  judicial review.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

          7  that's certainly something certainly for us to look

          8  at.

          9                 I also was wondering whether we can,

         10  on a city basis, and this is something perhaps you

         11  can get back to me on, and, again, I direct this

         12  also to the Counsel to the Committee, whether we

         13  could license the brokers of these loans. Because

         14  the Home Improvement Contractor may be the broker on

         15  some of them, but my impression is, both from what

         16  the testimony was today, and also from some

         17  experience I've had with this, that there are a

         18  whole class of brokers, I think you said act like

         19  "birddogs," I think that was in your testimony.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Are you talking

         21  about real estate brokers or mortgage brokers?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mortgage

         23  brokers.

         24                 And I think that whether we could

         25  license them the way we license the home improvement
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          2  contractors so that we would have some handle going

          3  after them, I think often times they are maybe more

          4  to blame than the funding companies, the

          5  intermediaries; do you have a comment on that?

          6                 MR. MARTIN: There's already a state

          7  license for both real estate brokers and mortgage

          8  brokers. We have seen this in all shapes and sizes,

          9  and sometimes you would have a broker with a

         10  contractor's license, sometimes it's hard to

         11  determine who the broker is. We have had some

         12  success in getting the State Banking Department to

         13  go after mortgage broker licenses when we have been

         14  able to tie a mortgage broker to a contractor.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If the State

         16  isn't doing a good job, can we license them, too?

         17  Could we license them?

         18                 MR. MARTIN: Well, that's something we

         19  think we should look into and talk further about.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I certainly

         21  would support that, if the state isn't doing a good

         22  job. I think it's the mortgage brokers who often

         23  times are the real culprits here.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Sanders.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 Always good to see you, Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thanks.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I, too, am

          7  looking forward to working with the Department so we

          8  can talk about what legislation would be the most

          9  effective. I think everyone up here, and I trust

         10  everyone in the audience wants some legislation that

         11  can really do something about this problem, without

         12  perhaps crippling a whole industry.

         13                 Just one question for you before I

         14  turn to our friend from OMB. Would you know how many

         15  times the Banking Department has taken away the

         16  licenses that you spoke of?

         17                 You said that the Banking Department

         18  had the ability to take it away. My understanding is

         19  that this happens very rarely. Would you know the

         20  exact number, or would you concede it's rare?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We don't know

         22  the number. Bob thinks that your instincts are

         23  correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 With your permission, Mr. Chair, I

          3  will go to OMB?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You certainly have

          5  my permission, Council member. But I would also say

          6  that since we're going to be having another hearing,

          7  maybe we could look into some of the answers. I know

          8  there are a lot of questions being thrown out that

          9  you might not be able to answer, but you'll have an

         10  opportunity perhaps to come back with those.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Sanders.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         14  sir.

         15                 Where do we start, sir? Why not at

         16  the beginning.

         17                 You were speaking of this bill, and

         18  one thing struck me, and it was a general thought.

         19  It seemed like the implication was that every bank

         20  is so involved in this that everyone has their hands

         21  dirty, that there's no way we can separate people

         22  who have decent and reliable and responsible

         23  practices from people who are out to defraud widows

         24  and orphans and anyone else. I know that I

         25  misunderstood you. Perhaps if you could straighten
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          2  me out, and please let me know that there are banks

          3  that are doing responsible business. I'm sure there

          4  are. Surely there are.

          5                 MR. ANDERS: We certainly didn't mean

          6  to imply that at all. A large part of the problem,

          7  but not the only problem, as we said in our

          8  testimony, is the definition of securitization and

          9  the way securitization has developed over the last

         10  several decades. That's really how funding is done

         11  these days for  all kinds of loans, in particular

         12  mortgages. So, it's very difficult for a financial

         13  institution to know what loans it's in fact

         14  securitizing and whether they're involved in these

         15  sorts of practices, and, so, it's hard for us to

         16  comply with this bill, it's hard for the firms that

         17  we deal with, to know whether they're in violation,

         18  and that's the problem that we're highlighting for

         19  you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well,

         21  certainly we need to do some things, and Council

         22  Member Koppell has been shining a light and perhaps

         23  we need to look into those things on downstream. We

         24  need to perhaps see what we can do about the

         25  predatory birddog itself, the person who is out
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          2  there actually seeking out victims for practical

          3  purposes.

          4                 But if I could just remind you about

          5  this legislation, that anyone who wants to do

          6  business with the City needs only to submit a plan

          7  for compliance, so in one sense that the check that

          8  you're saying will be too difficult and cost

          9  prohibitive is absolved by the first person, by the

         10  actual banks that will do that. Due diligence is

         11  only a sampling of the pool of loans to see if they

         12  include the predatory characteristics.

         13                 Also, you have to remember that these

         14  banks have to do ten loans, ten predatory loans or

         15  more a year, or five percent of the whole. So,

         16  certainly if there is a bank that has made a

         17  mistake, or a bank that has fallen afoul once or

         18  twice, they certainly wouldn't be considered in this

         19  league. Doesn't this legislation have enough checks

         20  and balances in it? If not, could you suggest some

         21  that you would use to make it a more effective bill?

         22                 MR. ANDERS: Well, you make excellent

         23  points, and I hope that you are aware that our staff

         24  and general counsel and our legal counsel have been

         25  in contact with your staff. We're very interested in
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          2  continuing that dialogue. We don't have a list of

          3  fixes or an alternative proposal today, and,

          4  frankly, we're concerned that with your broad

          5  objectives, it's hard to -- it will be hard to craft

          6  something that doesn't have the risk of crippling

          7  the City's capital program.

          8                 But you make very good points, and

          9  we've been listening, and we're glad to continue

         10  that dialogue with you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you for

         12  your forthrightness, and we look forward to working

         13  with you.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're welcome.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 Just one comment before I call on

         18  Council Member Barron.

         19                 Several of us were struck in looking

         20  this over, and in my opening remarks the comment is

         21  on the growth, the huge growth, rapid growth of this

         22  industry. And I think the growth of this industry,

         23  if you can correlate that with the availability of

         24  the money. So, the securities market, this whole

         25  issue of securitizing, which is a word that is hard
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          2  to swallow, but my English teacher isn't here, but

          3  the market that we are concerned about that is going

          4  to be affected, the banks and all of that to do the

          5  securitization, they have made the money available

          6  because they have found this industry so profitable,

          7  and that is why you've seen this huge increase in

          8  the ripoff.

          9                 So, somehow they found it beneficial

         10  to make money, but now they want to not be held

         11  accountable. So, I think that's where the rub is

         12  with a lot of us. This market wouldn't have

         13  ballooned if the banks hadn't said, oh, this is a

         14  way to make some serious change.

         15                 Council Member Barron.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I want to take

         17  off where you just left. I'm just shocked at your

         18  testimony, to be honest with you. I don't know why I

         19  should be, but, I mean, you're here to protect

         20  people, especially the consumer -- you're telling

         21  us, and I'm reading in your testimony, you're saying

         22  that if we don't let them continue to rip people

         23  off, balloon payments, default interest, refinancing

         24  that leads to taking people's homes, if we don't let

         25  them do this we're not going to be able to do things
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          2  with the banking industry and security, lending

          3  institutions -- to me, we are here to protect the

          4  consumers, the people of New York City, and your

          5  emphasis seems to be to protect bankers and to

          6  protect lending institutions that are doing wrong,

          7  doing immoral, ripoff acts. And I just find it

          8  shocking that even in your opening statement, you've

          9  really complemented our legislation and said you

         10  can't support it - this legislation would prohibit

         11  the City of New York from doing business with

         12  institutions and their affiliates that engage in

         13  predatory lending practice -- this is something you

         14  should want to do -- that this legislation would

         15  also reach banks and dealers that innocently market

         16  securities backed by pools of mortgages that may

         17  include predatory loans - come on. Come on.  Now,

         18  this I find shocking. I think that we came up with a

         19  piece of legislation that is to protect consumers

         20  and to say to lending institutions that you cannot

         21  rip off people.

         22                 And for now you to hold us hostage

         23  here and say, well, if we don't let them do this,

         24  then we can't do business with these companies, to

         25  me is -- it just doesn't make sense to me
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          2  whatsoever.

          3                 We're here to protect consumers, and

          4  I think that should be our priority, and that is the

          5  priority of this legislation. Unless you come up

          6  with something better, which I haven't heard either

          7  one of you come up, in my opinion, even though you

          8  hint toward the other end of it, and you don't want

          9  to deal with the big end where the big guys are

         10  really doing things, I think that's what your

         11  responsibility is, to come up with something that's

         12  going to protect our people from these predators and

         13  not be overly concerned about their lending

         14  relationship with us if we don't allow them to

         15  continue this practice.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Davis, and then

         19  Council Member Liu.

         20                 I would just remind all of my

         21  colleagues, we certainly want to hear all your

         22  questions, but we also have the advocates here and

         23  the banks, so perhaps the Commissioner and OMB don't

         24  have all the answers, but I know we want to ask them

         25  questions directed to their testimony.
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          2                 Council Member Davis.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Yes, I will be

          4  very brief.

          5                 I felt similar when I read the OMB's

          6  testimony. On page one, "in addition, if passed, the

          7  legislation would make it much more difficult for

          8  OMB and other City agencies to find institutions to

          9  provide essential financial services." You know, my

         10  mind started thinking about Mayor Bloomberg's don't

         11  tax the rich because they might leave. You know,

         12  they're part of the City, they're with us. You know,

         13  we can't go after the rich, don't go after these

         14  individuals, they may leave. We all suffered in

         15  9/11, everybody suffered, so this whole concept of

         16  let's leave this group alone because we don't want

         17  to offend that group, let's go after the baby fish,

         18  because we don't want to go after the sharks, I have

         19  a serious problem with that. The law should apply

         20  across the board and what we're talking about is

         21  predators, and whether it's predatory lending, or

         22  predators on the street, the predators should be

         23  stopped.

         24                 And Commissioner Dykstra, we also

         25  need to embark on concerted education projects in
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          2  the communities.

          3                 Now, I want to say to you that I have

          4  watched you, I commend you, I thank you, I think

          5  you're going to make an outstanding Commissioner,

          6  and I mean that because you're open, I was watching

          7  you the other day on television, but last time we

          8  didn't even have the money, you didn't have the

          9  monies, it says here, "we also need to embark on a

         10  concerted education project in the communities."

         11  With what money? With what budget?

         12                 Previous you say you don't have the

         13  monies, now we need to do an education project. With

         14  what monies? Where are you going to get the monies

         15  from to do this education project in the

         16  communities?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Certainly it

         18  would be useful, if we all had a larger education

         19  budget, but I'd like to say that I believe that the

         20  more partners there are working on a project on the

         21  same page, you can do a lot with very little if you

         22  work together with other people, and that's what we

         23  intend to do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Well, I agree

         25  with that, but, again, you have here in your
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          2  testimony "we hope to convince financial

          3  institutions to help us." And I do agree, and we

          4  want to get that message out as well, but you have

          5  here that you're going to do a concerted education

          6  project, so I'm wondering, did you flesh it out, and

          7  wondering where you're going to get that monies

          8  from?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Well, I'll give

         10  you an example, and this is why I think it's good

         11  that DCA has embraced predatory lending as one of

         12  its three strategic priorities, so let me give you

         13  an example.

         14                 We are part of the Fair Lending

         15  Coalition. Our enforcement people, we are now

         16  talking internally about how to deploy our

         17  inspectors to those neighborhoods where we know

         18  predatory lending is a great problem.

         19                 What if our inspectors began to carry

         20  with them the pamphlets that the Fair Lending

         21  Coalition has printed in both Spanish and English,

         22  and distribute them as we go into the neighborhoods

         23  looking for and inspecting those stores and

         24  contractors who we license? We can piggy-back some

         25  of our efforts.
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          2                 Thanks to the Fair Lending Coalition,

          3  we've got the materials. We've got the inspectors.

          4  If we're more strategic about deployment where the

          5  problem is greater, greatest, I think we, in fact,

          6  can make a difference. We can go -- now, I can't

          7  promise you that we can go door to door and still do

          8  all of our inspections, but we can make ourselves

          9  present in neighborhoods in ways that we haven't

         10  been doing in the past.

         11                 And, if a financial institution wants

         12  to print those for us, great.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Commissioner,

         14  let me compliment you for that thought. I would,

         15  again, something that I said previously, when you

         16  come into the 35th Councilmanic District, let me

         17  know that you're coming so we can work with your

         18  inspectors, and I'm sure that applies for every

         19  single Councilman that we can coordinate some type

         20  of effort and be on the same page.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Exactly. One of

         22  the things we're looking at as we speak is the

         23  possibility of redeploying our inspectors or at

         24  least part of them into Councilmanic Districts. So,

         25  we report back to you in a more thorough way about
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          2  our annual activities in any district. Each district

          3  wouldn't necessarily look the same, because those of

          4  you who have predatory lending problems, we might do

          5  more inspections there on that issue than somewhere

          6  else, but we are right now looking at that

          7  possibility.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Davis.

         10                 Council Member Liu, did you have a

         11  question or a comment?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes. Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.

         14                 I do have a question for, is it Mr.

         15  Anders?

         16                 MR. ANDERS: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you for

         18  your time this afternoon.

         19                 I think I concur with some of my

         20  colleagues today that the testimony you provided to

         21  us seems, at least in some parts, a bit extreme. And

         22  I would repeat one of your statements, which is that

         23  this bill is likely to disqualify all investment

         24  banks, letter of credit banks, and other financial

         25  institutions that provide vital services to the City
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          2  in connection with the sale of its debt obligation.

          3  Is that true? With all investment banks, with all

          4  banks that issue letters of credit?

          5                 MR. ANDERS: I am going to let our

          6  General Counsel answer the question.

          7                 MS. HENNING: Hi. My name is Marjorie

          8  Henning, I'm OMB General Counsel.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry, I can't

         10  hear your name.

         11                 MS. HENNING: Marjorie Henning.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         13                 MS. HENNING: You're welcome.

         14                 I think the problem of the bill is

         15  the breadth of the definitions of predatory lender,

         16  predatory loan, and the exception that's given for

         17  someone who acts, an institution which acts as a

         18  placement agent for a securitization of mortgage

         19  loans, the exception that will take such an

         20  institution out of the provisions of this bill

         21  requires that they confirm that not a single one of

         22  those loans is a predatory loan. In a securitization

         23  pool there might be as many as 500 to 1,000 loans,

         24  that kind of due diligence just would not be

         25  possible.
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          2                 And practically every financial

          3  institution that we do business with do act in this

          4  capacity, as placement agents or underwriters of

          5  securitizations.

          6                 I think that is one of the primary

          7  problems that we have with the bill.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Would you be

          9  talking about these investment banks? I guess you're

         10  including the underwriters, as well as various

         11  commercial banks that are here in New York City? I

         12  believe that we're focusing on subprime loans here,

         13  and are you saying that all of these institutions

         14  engage in the securitization of subprime loans? Are

         15  you including all of the home loans, the Fannie

         16  Mae's, the Freddie Macs?

         17                 MS. HENNING: I am saying that I think

         18  it would be impossible for them to confirm that none

         19  of the loans that might be in a securitization pool

         20  would fit the criteria. Because the definition of

         21  predatory loan is quite broad, and there are a lot

         22  of different categories that could make a loan a

         23  predatory loan.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Understood. But

         25  you're saying here that this bill is likely to
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          2  disqualify all investment banks. And, so, I'm just

          3  trying to understand, I mean, is it with all the

          4  banks, the underwriters, the commercial and

          5  investment banks that we have here in New York City,

          6  do they all engage in the securitization of subprime

          7  loans?

          8                 MS. HENNING: No, I'm not saying they

          9  engage in the securitization of subprime loans.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But if they're

         11  not in the business then --

         12                 MS. HENNING: I'm saying that it would

         13  be very, very difficult for them to confirm the

         14  exception required that they establish reasonable

         15  procedures to confirm that not a single loan and a

         16  portfolio of loans that is being securitized is a

         17  predatory loan. I think that that is a standard that

         18  is going to be practically impossible.

         19                 They're not actively engaged in the

         20  front lines of making predatory loans.  The banks

         21  that we do business with by and large, I would say

         22  not even by and large, are not engaged in predatory

         23  loans.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Are there any

         25  banks that would only engage in the securitization
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          2  of Fannie Mae conforming loans, and not reach into

          3  the subprime market?

          4                 MS. HENNING: I don't know the answer

          5  to that. I just know based on my reading of this

          6  bill that it would be extremely difficult for anyone

          7  to do the due diligence to qualify for that

          8  exception.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I certainly

         10  understand and I appreciate what you're saying, and

         11  I think, Mr. Chair, this is a topic that we could

         12  probably explore much further at our follow-up

         13  hearing on April 22nd, but it seems to me that with

         14  all of the investment banks and underwriters that we

         15  have in New York City, that there are some major

         16  institutions that are not engaged in this part of

         17  the market. I believe that we're talking about the

         18  institutions that securitize subprime loans. If they

         19  are institutions that are not engaged in the

         20  securitization of subprime loans, this bill

         21  certainly would not impose any additional reporting

         22  or disclosure hardships on those companies, and,

         23  therefore, the City would still be free to work with

         24  these institutions in the sale of its debt, and, of

         25  course, I certainly believe that we need to be able
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          2  to raise capital for this City.

          3                 I just can't imagine that with all of

          4  the institutions out there that every single one of

          5  them would by affected by this bill, because every

          6  single one of them engages in the subprime market,

          7  and that none of them would be able to satisfy the

          8  disclosure requirements that we have.

          9                 MR. ANDERS: We would like to thank

         10  the Council Member for his comments, and, again, I

         11  think you've identified another area for further

         12  discussion with OMB. We're definitely not interested

         13  in protecting institutions that are engaged in

         14  predatory lending, we're just trying to protect the

         15  market access of the City to protect the capital

         16  program that's so important for all of us.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you.

         18                 Mr. Chair, I do have one follow-up,

         19  if I may?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please do.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: When banks, or

         22  these financial institutions, securitize Fannie Mae

         23  conforming loans, don't they have a number of very

         24  onerous requirements to meet in terms of certifying

         25  that every single loan in that basket or that
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          2  portfolio that they're trying to securitize is

          3  subject to certain requirements?

          4                 For example, are conforming loans

          5  allowed to have the balloon payments? Are they

          6  allowed to have prepayment penalties? Do they have

          7  to be subject to very strict consumer disclosure

          8  requirements? Are similar requirements already

          9  imbedded in some of the requirements that the

         10  federal law requires?

         11                 MS. HENNING: We're not expert on the

         12  Fannie Mae underwriting standards.

         13                 I do know that Fannie Mae does

         14  purchase loans with balloon payments, but I'm not an

         15  export.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member, I

         17  think that's a terrific question.

         18                 I just would remind you that the

         19  bank, New York State Bankers and Mortgage

         20  Association is going to testify today, so I assume

         21  they're in the room and you've heard these questions

         22  so you can prepare yourself to answer them?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. And let me

         24  just say then, I will save my question for later on,

         25  but I would like to say that I don't think anybody
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          2  on this Committee, Mr. Chair, and my colleagues,

          3  would like to see the City of New York hurt in any

          4  way in terms of the ability for us to raise capital.

          5  None of us want that. Trust me on that.

          6                 But at the same time, I am troubled

          7  by some of these, perhaps a little, maybe radical

          8  statements, and certainly I never thought that the

          9  OMB was radical.

         10                 So, I just want to make sure that

         11  maybe we can -- well, I think we have to explore

         12  some of these issues at our follow-up hearing.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. ANDERS: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         16                 We have been joined by Council Member

         17  Gale Brewer, from Manhattan, and Council Member

         18  Koppell has a very brief last comment, and then I've

         19  forgotten, it's my mistake, to swear you all in, so

         20  I'm going to swear you in that everything you said

         21  was truthful, okay?

         22                 Council Member Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         24                 I just am a little surprised at the

         25  Counsel's remarks, the General Counsel's remarks,
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          2  because in my reading of this, it deals in the

          3  operative section with procuring goods or services

          4  or financing with a financial institution that is a

          5  predatory lender, or an affiliate of a predatory

          6  lender.

          7                 Now, I think that Council Member Lou

          8  has properly pointed out that I don't think that

          9  it's your analysis that any of these large financing

         10  institutions are predatory lenders, but you think

         11  they may be affiliates?

         12                 MS. HENNING: Well, I guess my point

         13  was that, if you look at the definition of predatory

         14  lender, it's extremely broad, and it does have an

         15  exception for institutions that are involved in the

         16  securitization of mortgage loans, and that exception

         17  requires a reasonable belief, based on reasonable

         18  procedures, that none of the loans are predatory

         19  loans, and I think that that is a diligent standard

         20  that will be extremely difficult for institutions

         21  engaged in mortgage loan securitizations to meet.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

         23  that maybe that definition should be cleaned up a

         24  little bit or narrowed somewhat, but I think that we

         25  could still probably arrive at a definition because
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          2  we're seeking to deal with predatory lenders, not

          3  people who put together packages where there might

          4  be a predatory loan in the package.

          5                 And what I would ask is that you

          6  work, because I think that Mr. Barron's sentiments,

          7  and the sentiments of others of us is the same,

          8  we're not interested in getting people who

          9  innocently may get one of these predatory loans. I

         10  don't think that was the intention as I read the

         11  bill, because it talks about predatory lenders and

         12  those who are affiliates, but affiliates is fairly

         13  narrowly drawn, so many people in control. So, I

         14  think that you could work with us without creating

         15  the consequence that Council Member Liu mentioned

         16  seems extreme.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

         18  Member. This is a working document, and I think we

         19  said at the beginning, particularly a lot of very

         20  interesting points are coming out of this. So, we

         21  are looking to work with you.

         22                 Mr. Anders, I asked my staff to look,

         23  the Citywide Legal Services was funded in last

         24  year's budget, all the Citywide Legal Services was

         25  funded at $2.7 million. All of that money, now,
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          2  again, that was the last Administration, and better

          3  left unspoken, although somehow today is the first

          4  -- let me not go into it. I just recall that there

          5  was an issue of him in office for three months, as

          6  this would have been the first day of your new term,

          7  and I'm certainly glad that we didn't have that

          8  experience.

          9                 But there was $2.7 million for City

         10  Legal Services in last year's budget, your

         11  preliminary budget now has cut that by 100 percent,

         12  not one nickel is in the budget for the programs

         13  that you think we need to have in the community to

         14  help these people not get loans that steal their

         15  houses from them.

         16                 So, when you bring the executive

         17  budget back to us, the first thing this Committee

         18  wants to know is, how much of that money has been

         19  restored, if not enhanced?

         20                 And I would ask our counsel if he

         21  would be kind enough swear you all in, because I

         22  left that off at the beginning.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Ladies and

         24  gentlemen, do you swear or affirm that the testimony

         25  you have given was the truth, the whole truth and
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          2  nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. ANDERS: Yes, we do.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We do.

          5                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you all very

          7  much.

          8                 We've been joined by the Borough

          9  President of Brooklyn. It's the first time I've had

         10  a chance to not only welcome him to the Council, but

         11  to offer congratulations. It's not a paid editorial,

         12  but I think you're doing a terrific job over there,

         13  Mr. Markowitz.

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: Thank

         15  you. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And you're going to

         17  move some of the old men out of the building, and I

         18  liked your explanation on New York 1. I thought it

         19  made perfect sense, just an example of how the media

         20  wants to blow stuff up.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: I

         22  certainly learned from the first few weeks --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Borough

         24  President, just a second.

         25                 Mr. Borough President, we've been
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          2  swearing in all the witnesses, so if you would be

          3  kind enough?

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Mr. Borough

          5  President, do you swear or affirm that the testimony

          6  you're about to give is the truth and nothing but

          7  the truth?

          8                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ:

          9  Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please begin.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: Thank

         12  you very, very much. I'll be as brief as I can.

         13                 Let me thank all the members of the

         14  City Council and the Chair for holding this

         15  important hearing. It's one which regrettably

         16  Brooklyn homeowners are experiencing perhaps more

         17  than the rest of the City of New York.

         18                 In fact, a former State Attorney

         19  General described home equity fraud as an insidious

         20  form of urban economic violence, and I agree.

         21                 We are experiencing an epidemic of

         22  some urban economic violence. Homeowners in Crown

         23  Heights, Bedford Stuyvesant, East New York, and

         24  other communities populated primarily by people of

         25  color, are being preyed upon by unscrupulous
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          2  mortgage brokers and mortgage companies.

          3                 Homeowners who have borrowed money

          4  and are falling behind in their payments are

          5  targeted. So are homeowners who are having trouble

          6  keeping up with hospital, car and utility bills.

          7  They're urged to consolidate their debt into a

          8  mortgage, which seems to make sense, but there are

          9  enormous hidden costs and the interest rates are

         10  excessive.

         11                 Now, let me just stop. Many of the

         12  homeowners happen to be elderly. This is a fact. And

         13  have no family to turn to any longer, are living in

         14  these homes that their families grew up, and they

         15  may be the only surviving member of their family

         16  left, and want to continue to live in their home

         17  with dignity, and that's their right, they earned

         18  it, and we ought to, as a City, and as a state, as a

         19  nation do everything we can to make sure that those

         20  who have come before us, and have made life better

         21  for their own family and all of us, should be

         22  treated with the respect, especially in their golden

         23  years, their seniors.

         24                 Another tactic is the home

         25  improvement contractor working hand-in-glove with a
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          2  finance company to cajole or trick a homeowner into

          3  signing a high-interest rate mortgage to finance

          4  home remodeling.

          5                 In some instances the home owner

          6  doesn't even realize they signed the mortgage or

          7  they are misinformed about the rate and monthly

          8  payments, and the renovations are done shoddily or

          9  in too many times none at all.

         10                 I've seen cases where senior citizens

         11  just getting by on their Social Security payments

         12  are saddled with monthly payments far above their

         13  entire monthly income.

         14                 End result: People are losing their

         15  homes to foreclosure at a disturbing rate, or they

         16  are struggling to make monthly payments that take up

         17  nearly their entire income.

         18                 The rise in property values in recent

         19  years has given predatory lenders even greater

         20  incentive, to prey on homeowners, many of whom

         21  remain cash poor.

         22                 Unfortunately, well meaning

         23  counter-measures New York State has pursued in

         24  recent years hasn't made enough of an impact and

         25  predatory lending continues to be widespread.
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          2                 We've prosecuted.  In 1996, Attorney

          3  General Eliot Spitzer got a $6 million settlement of

          4  predatory lending charges against Delta Funding, one

          5  of the biggest subprime lenders in the area. Delta

          6  was also required to pay $12 million to homeowners.

          7  The U.S. Justice Department also took action at that

          8  time.

          9                 And we regulated in 2000 the State

         10  Banking Department's Part 41 regulations took

         11  effect. These regulations prohibit a wide range of

         12  abusive loan terms in high-cost loans, such as

         13  excessive balloon payments, negative amortization,

         14  and mandatory arbitration that is "oppressive,

         15  unfair or unconscionable."

         16                 But a New York Times front-page

         17  editorial last Wednesday indicates that these

         18  efforts aren't really working very well. The

         19  headline reads: "Failing Mortgages Soar in New York

         20  - Big Increase in Defaults Seen Among Poorer

         21  Families." The article attributed the rise to a

         22  combination of higher unemployment, the events of

         23  September 11th and to "fraudulent lending practices"

         24  -- in other words, predatory lending.

         25                 Part 41 does not adequately
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          2  discourage predatory lending from occurring in the

          3  first place, and, most critically, does not provide

          4  predatory lending victims facing foreclosure with

          5  any legal recourse. Because we have our champions,

          6  Josh Zinner, one of those, who heads the Foreclosure

          7  Prevention Project at Brooklyn Legal Services says

          8  that Part 41 does not go far enough, has numerous

          9  loopholes, and that new laws are needed if we are

         10  finally going to seriously reduce the amount of

         11  predatory lending still going on, and organizations

         12  such as those headed by Sarah Ludwig would also

         13  agree.

         14                 So, we need to have intro. 67 signed

         15  into law. At the least, Intro. 67 would make sure

         16  that the City in no way condones or supports

         17  predatory lending. But it does much more. Intro. 67

         18  hits predatory lenders and their affiliates in their

         19  pocketbooks.

         20                 - They would be denied City loans,

         21  grants or tax incentives. So, for instance, a

         22  predatory lender and its affiliates wouldn't be

         23  eligible for ICIP or IDA-approved tax incentives for

         24  new offices.

         25                 - They would be barred from City
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          2  purchasing contracts; and

          3                 - They would be prohibited from

          4  accepting City deposits.

          5                 - And the City, including its pension

          6  funds, would be prohibited from the investing in

          7  predatory lenders or their affiliates.

          8                 While Intro. 67 would certainly help

          9  in the battle against predatory lending, Albany

         10  needs to take additional action.

         11                 And thus, I enthusiastically support

         12  as a model the New York State Responsible Lending

         13  Act, which is Senate 5505, which is backed by New

         14  Yorkers for Responsible Lending, a grassroot

         15  coalition of over 100 member organizations.

         16                 Among its key provisions, violations

         17  of the Act would create legal defenses to

         18  foreclosure actions and allow victims of predatory

         19  lending to keep their homes.

         20                 The Act would prohibit lending

         21  without regard to a person's repayment ability. It

         22  would make it illegal to impose mandatory

         23  arbitration clauses, and defenses could be raised in

         24  court against successive holders of high-cost loans,

         25  which would effectively dry up many of the sources

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  of money that finances this industry.

          3                 The Responsible Lending Act passed

          4  the Assembly last June. Now, I served in the New

          5  York Senate for 23 years. All the progressive

          6  legislation always has its origination and its

          7  initial passage in New York State Assembly. I'm

          8  hoping that the New York State Senate, I know that

          9  the Senate Democratic Minority, and I know that

         10  Senate Democratic Leader Martin Connor will be among

         11  those in the vanguard to fight to make sure the

         12  entire Senate passes the Act.

         13                 So, thank you. I know that the City

         14  Council will do the right thing, and I hope will

         15  send a message to the State Senate to enact S.5505

         16  Senate bill -- without any weakening amendments --

         17  now being discussed in the State Legislature.

         18                 Thank you very, very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Borough

         20  President, thank you very much. It's always a

         21  pleasure to have you here. I would ask my colleagues

         22  because of the time, unless they had some really

         23  unbelievably timely question, if we could move

         24  forward because we want to take your testimony.

         25                 So, thank you very much.
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And I also wanted

          5  to recognize that there is a representative from --

          6  don't move out of your seat yet -- there's a

          7  representative from the Bronx Borough President's

          8  Office here, who not only is a terrific Borough

          9  President, but he learned everything he did by

         10  sitting next to me in the back row for the first

         11  four years, but I'm going to ask you to defer that

         12  testimony until the next hearing on April 22nd. He

         13  could be here directly, or if you're here to

         14  represent him, you'll be the first person to

         15  testify, because we do have a crush of things that

         16  we really need to get through.

         17                 Thank you, I appreciate that.

         18                 We have next round of witnesses,

         19  Marie Pierre, from ACORN; Gloria Waldron; Fredrick

         20  Griesbach from AARP. I forgot to bring my card with

         21  me today. And I'm going to mess this up, so just

         22  DelRio. Someone help me with the first name.

         23                 MS. DELRIO: Deyaniva.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Okay,

         25  great.
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          2                 How are you all today? I think we

          3  have four people. Do we have a fourth one there?

          4  Could you take your seat and we'll get that done in

          5  just a second, Ma'am? Could you leave that to the

          6  Sergeant-At-Arms? Thank you.

          7                 We would like to swear you all in.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Ladies and

          9  gentlemen, do you either swear or affirm -- please

         10  raise your right hand. Do you either swear or affirm

         11  that the testimony you're going to give here today

         12  before the City Council will be the truth, the whole

         13  truth and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MR. GRIESBACH: I do.

         15                 MS. PIERRE: I do.

         16                 MS. DELRIO: I do.

         17                 MS. WALDRON: I do.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         20                 Now, this is a critical issue that I

         21  know many of you have been in the forefront of

         22  protecting our citizens and you have a lot to say

         23  about this, but I want you also to try and respond

         24  perhaps to some of the comments that were made. All

         25  of your testimony is going to be entered into the
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          2  record, so don't feel obligated to read every word

          3  of the testimony, because we also have another score

          4  of people that we want to hear from, so we want to

          5  make your comments as relevant as possible.

          6                 Ms. Marie Pierrer?

          7                 MS. PIERRE: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, Ma'am. Please

          9  tell us your name for the record and you can begin.

         10                 MS. PIERRE: Hi. Good afternoon,

         11  Chairman and Council members. I'm Marie Pierre,

         12  Board member of the New York ACORN, and East New

         13  York resident. We have heard a lot today of

         14  individual victims of predatory loans, their stories

         15  are so important to developing good legislation. For

         16  my part, I would like to talk about another side of

         17  the issue that often gets ignored. The impact that

         18  predatory lending is having on our neighborhoods. I

         19  would also like to discuss the role investment banks

         20  play in making predatory lending a household term.

         21                 For working class, the vast majority

         22  of wealth is in our homes, and the benefits of home

         23  ownerships are important. It means every month you

         24  put aside money away for the future. Owning your

         25  home gives you more financial security for your
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          2  retirement and other important needs. It also makes

          3  you more likely to really put down roots and get

          4  involved in your community.

          5                 Our communities can't afford to have

          6  their resources drained away by predatory loans.

          7  Whether they're made by fly-by-night mortgage

          8  brokers, or huge national lenders like household

          9  finance. But that's what's happening every day, as

         10  lenders and brokers aggressively market their

         11  subprime loans in our neighborhoods.

         12                 Predatory home loans are a major

         13  reason why New York ACORN members are seeing so many

         14  problems and abandoned houses in our neighborhoods,

         15  especially in areas like Southeast Queens, South

         16  Bronx and Central Brooklyn.

         17                 Too often home owners are being

         18  trapped into mortgages with higher costs that they

         19  can't afford, or in loans that strip away the equity

         20  they have built up in their homes.

         21                 In many cases, these homes end up

         22  being abandoned and lie vacant, and now, instead of

         23  having a neighbor next door, you just have empty

         24  houses.

         25                 We're working on a lot of different
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          2  things to make sure that this does not happen, and I

          3  want you Council Members to pass strong

          4  anti-predatory lending legislation and we call on

          5  you to pass this bill without weakening it.

          6                 Earlier today you heard testimony

          7  from predatory lending victims. For example, Emma

          8  Charles had a loan through Household Beneficial, one

          9  of the most notorious subprime lenders. Both Morgan

         10  Stanley, Dean Witter and Solomon Smith Barney

         11  underwrite household loans. Together, these

         12  investment banks receive over 60 million in tax

         13  breaks from the City.

         14                 By the way, household also backs

         15  rapid refund loans from H&R Block, a tax company

         16  that the Mayor recently criticized for its deceptive

         17  practices.

         18                 These are just a few examples of

         19  relationships that the City may have with some of

         20  these bad lenders. There are definitely more that

         21  should be looked at more closely.

         22                 The City Council can set an example

         23  for the state and other cities in standing strong

         24  against these practices.

         25                 As you see, the large broker firms
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          2  play a role in financing predatory loans. Without

          3  their leadership in doing the right thing, predatory

          4  lending will continue.

          5                 You have heard it before. Right here

          6  just in the testimony before. In a recent article, a

          7  representative for the secondary market has two

          8  arguments against the legislation that we find very

          9  puzzling:

         10                 1) The secondary market says the bill

         11  is so broad that it covers all institutions in the

         12  subprime lending market. You heard it.

         13                 Yes, the bill does try to cover all

         14  the hands in the stew. Why would you want to exempt

         15  or leave out any of our players in this market?

         16  Especially the investment houses who underwrite

         17  billions of dollars of subprime loans each year.

         18                 If you want to address a problem, it

         19  doesn't make sense to address only some of the

         20  people involved in it, the City Council is right to

         21  look at all of the pieces of the puzzle to eliminate

         22  predatory lending.

         23                 Two: The secondary market says it's

         24  impossible to know if we are buying predatory loans

         25  or not. We think it's odder for multi-billion dollar
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          2  industry not to be able to know what they are

          3  buying.

          4                 We know that before they underwrite

          5  these loans they check what the default rate is, why

          6  wouldn't they be able to check a small percentage of

          7  the high-cost loans, to see if they include any of

          8  these abusive practices.

          9                 We also know that these transactions

         10  include buy-back provisions, that for subprime

         11  lenders to buy back any loans that don't abide by

         12  their standards.

         13                 We are simply asking them to raise

         14  their standards before agreeing to underwrite

         15  subprime loans, to say this is impossible is not

         16  acceptable, and, frankly, quite a cop out.

         17                 This bill would force these companies

         18  to change their practices, or the practices of their

         19  business partners if they want to continue to have a

         20  relationship with the City.

         21                 There is no gray area. These

         22  companies must become responsible, or they lose the

         23  privilege of doing business with the City.

         24                 Let me end on just a note and say, I

         25  would like to thank you all for having come here,
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          2  and I want to end up by saying I'm tired of hearing

          3  ads that say - no credit? Bad credit? You can own

          4  your home.

          5                 It should possibly say - no credit?

          6  Bad credit? I can take your home when you get it.

          7                 Remember, it's now a buyer's market,

          8  so I urge you Council Members to consider this bill.

          9                 I thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         11  much, Ms. Pierre.

         12                 Ms. Waldron, is it?

         13                 MS. WALDRON: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please state your

         15  name for the record, and then proceed.

         16                 MS. WALDRON: I'm Gloria Waldron. I'm

         17  the President of New York ACORN, and I want to thank

         18  the Consumer Affairs Committee and the Council

         19  staff.

         20                 By this bill I can see you all really

         21  sat and did your homework, and it's good that in

         22  spite of that you're still leaving yourself open for

         23  further recommendations.

         24                 I want the record to show that we are

         25  not totally against subprime lenders. We are very
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          2  conscious that if there are no subprime lenders,

          3  there are so many of us that would not get loans,

          4  because in spite of some of us being able to get

          5  loans from the banks, so many people are scared to

          6  go to the bank and, you know, so we know that we

          7  need to have subprime lenders. What we are here to

          8  do is weed out those that do use abusive and

          9  deceptive practices to take away our homes.

         10                 So, you know, I want that to be

         11  clear, that it is only those.

         12                 Now, I was listening to the former

         13  presenters, and I'm saying do you see how easy it is

         14  for borrowers to be taken when they're so impressive

         15  in their presentations? You know, if they're so

         16  impressive to us, can you imagine a borrower? So, I

         17  commend you again for this bill.

         18                 Now, I applaud the other advocates

         19  for doing the right thing to protect us, the

         20  citizens of New York, from the plague of predatory

         21  lending.  By passing this bill, our City can be a

         22  lead in the fight against abusive loans around the

         23  state, and help to make New York a predatory-free

         24  zone.

         25                 ACORN is a grassroots community
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          2  organization that fights for better housing,

          3  education, living wages, and welfare rights.

          4                 For a long time, we just wanted banks

          5  to lend in our neighborhoods. Redlining and limited

          6  access to credit in our communities had a disastrous

          7  impact on our neighborhoods. Now, predatory lending,

          8  the ugly descendent of redlining, is starting to

          9  take a toll on neighborhoods throughout the City.

         10                 ACORN's sister organization, ACORN

         11  Housing Corporation, through its homebuyer

         12  counseling and education program, has helped over

         13  30,000 low- and moderate-income families become

         14  homeowners. Despite these accomplishments, the

         15  banking industry as a whole has continued to ignore

         16  inner-city neighborhoods, leaving the door open to

         17  abuse by predatory lenders.

         18                 One of our ongoing campaigns has been

         19  to pressure subprime lenders to change their unfair

         20  practices. Just recently, Household Beneficial won

         21  the Loan Shark of the Year Award for 2001.

         22                 A key part of this campaign is to

         23  pass strong anti-predatory lending legislation in

         24  localities and states around the country. We have

         25  gotten bills passed in Oakland and the State of
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          2  California.

          3                 Right now, we are engaged in battles

          4  to pass laws in Colorado, Arizona, Florida, and

          5  Minnesota, to name a few. In New York, we are part

          6  of a statewide coalition - the New Yorkers for

          7  Responsible Lending - that is fighting to get

          8  meaningful legislation passed at the state level.

          9                 Just as we fought redlining, we are

         10  fighting predatory lending. At the core of it is the

         11  need to ensure that low-income neighborhoods have

         12  access to good loans, not just any type of loan

         13  product. We don't need loans that borrowers can't

         14  repay, loans that drain equity from their home, or

         15  lead them to default and foreclosure. These bad

         16  loans contain abusive features that eat away at the

         17  progress we have all made in increasing home

         18  ownership and credit access in our communities. They

         19  can turn the dream of owning a home into a

         20  nightmare.

         21                 Today we have the opportunity to take

         22  a stand against these bad lenders. This

         23  anti-predatory lending bill will prompt lenders, and

         24  their partners, to change their practices if they

         25  want to hold onto the privilege of doing business
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          2  with the City.

          3                 Doing business with our tax dollars

          4  is exactly that - a privilege. If companies want the

          5  City's business, they must be responsible and not

          6  finance bad lenders or fuel predatory loans in bulk.

          7                 This bill will prevent City funds or

          8  business from going to predatory lenders. Predatory

          9  lenders will also be unable to receive my tax

         10  dollars to rip off my neighbors like Emma Charles.

         11                 What kind of lender would oppose

         12  these measures? I don't know. Because if you are an

         13  actor in these horror stories, then we don't need

         14  your business.

         15                 I'm glad you all are hitting them.

         16  You know, we talk about the test and the license,

         17  I'm glad that you are hitting them right where it

         18  hurts, in the pocket.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         21  much. I know Council Member Barron has indicated

         22  that he has a commitment at 3:00 and he's obviously

         23  staying on top of this. So, thank you. We do have a

         24  lot of people we want to try to hear from. If we're

         25  not able to, we will have a follow-up hearing, but I
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          2  would just also ask the next two witnesses, if they

          3  could try to -- I know you have some important

          4  information you want to share here, which you think

          5  is substantive, if you've got something that we

          6  really need to know that has not been said, that's

          7  what you ought to emphasize. I don't mean to

          8  diminish any of your testimony at all. I'm just

          9  conscious of where we're trying to get to today,

         10  okay?

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 Mr. Griesbach.

         13                 MR. GRIESBACH: My name is Fred

         14  Griesbach, I am the Acting Director of AARP in New

         15  York State.

         16                 We have two and a half million

         17  members in New York State, we have 900,000 in the

         18  City of New York. I'm going to be very brief. You

         19  heard a little bit earlier about education. We have

         20  worked with the banking community to do education.

         21  On June 2nd we have predatory lending -- we on June

         22  2nd will have Predatory Lending Sunday, where we

         23  reach out to churches throughout the entire state to

         24  when we'll have brochures about predatory lending

         25  and all of the practices that people should avoid.
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          2  We will be asking ministers to speak from the pulpit

          3  on that day on this issue, and, quite frankly, we

          4  are very happy with our educational efforts, we will

          5  continue to do them, and they're not enough.

          6                 We will educate and educate and

          7  educate, but we are educating an environment where

          8  there are people out there who are very clever and

          9  very talented and very corrupt. We really do need

         10  legislation.

         11                 Now, I know that you're in the

         12  process of looking at the legislation and rethinking

         13  the legislation here in New York City. I would like

         14  to make a request. This is a very big issue in the

         15  City of New York, but it is a very big issue in the

         16  City of Buffalo, in the City of Syracuse, in the

         17  City of Rochester, and in rural areas throughout

         18  this entire state.

         19                 To the extent that you can use your

         20  good offices, please come to Albany. Help us pass

         21  legislation for the entire state. That doesn't

         22  diminish what you need to do here, but you can help

         23  us take a step towards eliminating this throughout

         24  the entire state.

         25                 We have a bill, 98.8 in the Assembly,
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          2  we have S.5005 in the Senate, those bills are being

          3  considered now. I would ask the City Council, which

          4  has recognized the seriousness of this problem here

          5  in the City, help us eliminate it not only in New

          6  York City, but throughout the entire state.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. And I

          9  want to understand -- as I said before, I'm a member

         10  of AARP --

         11                 MR. GRIESBACH: We find everybody.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right. But your

         13  organization is for seniors. I'm not sure in your

         14  testimony you made it quite clear why you're so

         15  interested in this bill.

         16                 MR. GRIESBACH: Well, there's no doubt

         17  about the fact that predatory lending is a practice

         18  that happens in the subprime market, older folks

         19  tend to be in the subprime market. We did a survey

         20  in the Year 2000. Fifty-nine percent of the people

         21  over 59 own their own home. Seventy percent of those

         22  whose incomes were under $30,000 own their own home

         23  free and clear. This is the target market. They're

         24  older, they're on fixed incomes, they need money to

         25  repair a roof, to put new siding they may be trying
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          2  to cover medical bills, there's any number of

          3  reasons, this is a population, equity in their home,

          4  not a lot of income, and need for cash. It makes

          5  them need the subprime market, and it makes them a

          6  very easy prey on the subprime market.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          9                 Please introduce yourself.

         10                 MS. DELRIO: Good afternoon. Thank you

         11  for the opportunity to testify before the New York

         12  City Council's Committee on Consumer Affairs at this

         13  important hearing. My name is Deyanira Del Rio, and

         14  I'm the Director of Fair Lending Projects at the

         15  Neighborhood Economic Development Advocacy Project,

         16  NEDAP.

         17                 NEDAP is a non-profit resource center

         18  for community groups working on community

         19  reinvestment and financial justice issues in New

         20  York City's low-income neighborhoods and communities

         21  of color.

         22                 NEDAP provides legal, technical and

         23  policy support to help groups increase access to

         24  affordable financial services for housing

         25  development and preservation, for small business,
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          2  and micro-enterprise development, and for

          3  community-based financial institutions.

          4                 NEDAP has been working on predatory

          5  lending since 1997, when several groups began

          6  contacting us, alarmed by a significant rise in the

          7  number of foreclosures in communities.

          8                 Through our research and work with

          9  numerous groups over the next several years, we,

         10  along with other groups around the City, many of

         11  which you've heard from today and will hear from,

         12  began identifying patterns in which some

         13  unscrupulous lenders and brokers were aggressively

         14  marketing unaffordable, equity-based refinancing

         15  mortgage loans in particular communities, and

         16  especially to senior citizens who had lived in their

         17  home and built up substantial equity in their homes.

         18                 Many of these loans ended up in

         19  foreclosure very quickly, with defaults in the first

         20  or second year of the loan, in many cases, which

         21  imply to us that many of these loans were

         22  unaffordable from the beginning.

         23                 So, we began working on this issue in

         24  coalition and on our own. We now work on predatory

         25  lending in a number of ways through community
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          2  outreach and education, through research and

          3  documentation, and mapping, which I'll talk about

          4  briefly, and through advocacy and coalition

          5  building, including through the coalition that

          6  you've heard about today, the New Yorkers for

          7  Responsible Lending Anti-Predatory Lending

          8  Coalition, which is comprised of over 80 groups of

          9  various types, including many community development

         10  financial institutions that actually engage in sound

         11  subprime lending. They are actually, many of these

         12  institutions are part of the coalition and are in

         13  support of legislation, both in the City and in the

         14  State level, that would curb abusive high-cost

         15  mortgage lending.

         16                 I just want to give a bit of an

         17  overview about subprime mortgage lending industry in

         18  New York City and a bit about the state and make a

         19  couple of points.

         20                 As you've heard, predatory lending is

         21  concentrated in the subprime mortgage industry, and

         22  particularly in the refinancing mortgage market.

         23                 New York State ranks number one of

         24  all the states in the country in the percentage of

         25  all loans that were made in subprime -- that were
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          2  made by subprime lenders.

          3                 In 2000, which is the year, the most

          4  recent year for which data is available, subprime

          5  lenders made 34 percent, or one out of every three

          6  refinancing loans in the state, in the New York

          7  metropolitan statistical areas, subprime lenders

          8  made 36 percent of all loans. The national numbers

          9  in 2000 were 24 percent. So, New York, as a City and

         10  as a State ranks very high in comparison to other

         11  states and metropolitan areas.

         12                 Our documentation, which we've been

         13  doing now since 1997, shows that there was a

         14  substantial increase subprime lenders market share

         15  between 1999 and 2000.

         16                 In the State it increased, the

         17  subprime lenders market share of refinancing loans,

         18  increased from 21 percent to 34 percent, and in the

         19  New York metro area, from 22 percent to 36 percent.

         20                 In part, the concentration and the

         21  increase of subprime lenders marketshare is

         22  attributable to a larger market trend in which the

         23  overall refinancing market shrank substantially,

         24  meanwhile subprime lenders' activity remained fairly

         25  constant, which is why they now dominate the market
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          2  in more communities than ever in the City and state.

          3                 Number two: Low-income communities

          4  and predominantly non-white communities have a

          5  disproportionate concentration of subprime

          6  refinancing loans.

          7                 In the Year 2000, subprime lenders

          8  made 57 percent of all refinancing mortgages in

          9  neighborhoods where the population was more than 75

         10  percent black or Latino. This compares to only 27

         11  percent marketshare in predominantly white

         12  communities.

         13                 We find that even when you control

         14  for income of a community, that high-cost lenders

         15  who make loans at higher rates than conventional

         16  lenders, are more active in non-white communities

         17  than in white communities. And to give you an

         18  example, in the New York metro area in 2000,

         19  subprime lenders made 54 percent of refinancing

         20  loans in upper income predominantly black or Latino

         21  communities, 54 percent.

         22                 In low-income white communities,

         23  subprime lenders made only 32 percent.

         24                 So this is clearly an issue that we

         25  consider a civil rights issue, it's a
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          2  discrimination. People are paying more for credit

          3  based on where they live, is what we see.

          4                 I just want to point to the maps

          5  quickly, and explain briefly what they demonstrate a

          6  picture of.

          7                 The first is of New York City and it

          8  shows subprime refinancing loan patterns in 2000,

          9  which, again, is the most recent year for which

         10  lenders reported their mortgage lending data. The

         11  map is shaded according to subprime lenders market

         12  share of all loans made. So, where you see the

         13  darkest brown census track shaded, that's where

         14  subprime high-cost lenders made 50 percent or more

         15  of all the refinancing mortgages in those

         16  communities, and where it's shaded the lightest is

         17  where they made the fewest.

         18                 Over the shading, if you can see,

         19  there's a black cross-hatching, black lines, that

         20  overlay some of the census tracks, and what that

         21  shows is the communities where it's 75 percent or

         22  more black or Latino, and you can see that there's

         23  a really powerful correlation between where higher

         24  cost loans are made and where non-white people,

         25  where non-white communities are located.
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          2                 The second map is of just Brooklyn

          3  New York. And like I said, we've been mapping and

          4  documenting both lending and foreclosure patterns,

          5  and the first map, the first of the two maps on that

          6  second larger map, is of subprime refinancing loans.

          7  It shows one dot is one high-cost refinancing

          8  mortgage. So, it shows the same thing as the first

          9  map, but instead of percentage it shows actual

         10  number of loans, each dot is one loan.

         11                 On the red, where you see the red

         12  dots, that's where foreclosure actions were filed on

         13  one- to four-family homes, where homeowners faced

         14  foreclosure of the home by the lender.

         15                 And you can see that the patterns are

         16  very similar. And what this shows is not a picture

         17  of where predatory lending is happening per se, but

         18  it shows where communities are at-risk, where loans

         19  are being defaulted on and at high rates. And when

         20  we see such a strong correlation between high-cost

         21  loans and non-white communities, we think that that

         22  in itself is a problem because loans are being made

         23  on the basis of where people live and not based on

         24  their credit history.

         25                 Another point I want to make is that
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          2  NEDAP supports the principle that New York City

          3  should not engage in business with non-predatory

          4  lenders.

          5                 We support the principles underlying

          6  the City Council bill, and we bill the ordinance

          7  should also send a strong message to Albany, as

          8  others have said, to support that State legislation

          9  is needed, and we, as well, encourage the City

         10  Council to use your influence and your concern with

         11  this issue to support strong state legislation which

         12  would make many of these practices illegal for the

         13  first time.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Council Member Davis.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you very

         19  much for your testimony. Outstanding.

         20                 Coming out of an activist background,

         21  as well as a minister, education to the churches, as

         22  well as all the religious institutions is very

         23  important, and let us not forget all the various

         24  CBOs, I commend ARP, AARP and ACORN and your

         25  organizations for standing up. We, here in the
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          2  Council are committed, not only to stopping

          3  predatory lending here in the City, but also in the

          4  State, and I made a note of the particular 98.28 in

          5  the Assembly, as well as the correct legislation in

          6  the Senate; that is correct?

          7                 MS. DELRIO: It's actually Assembly

          8  Bill 7828.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 7828 and the

         10  Senate Number?

         11                 MS. DELRIO: 5005.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: All right. And

         13  we will stand with you. Make sure that the state

         14  knows that we're committed to this, as well.

         15                 And Mr. Chair, I had a meeting at

         16  3:00 but I was determined not to leave until I heard

         17  your testimony.

         18                 May I be excused?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes. Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         24  Sanders.

         25                 Council Member Koppell? Council
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          2  Member Koppell.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just want

          4  to commend the people who testified, and especially

          5  for the good work they did, statistical work, it's

          6  very helpful.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. As you

          8  know, we are having second hearings. We're

          9  negotiating with the Administration. We want to come

         10  out with a bill that they can sign, because we

         11  wouldn't want to have to go to an override. But I'm

         12  struck by the fact that 38 of the 51 members of the

         13  City Council are prime sponsors on this bill, which

         14  is more than enough as it stands right now.

         15                 I'm delighted to see that, and the

         16  more work that we're doing in collaboration with

         17  your organization, I think will stand to say to this

         18  Administration we need to take a no nonsense

         19  position.

         20                 Also, that we have a Governor that is

         21  running for re-election and the whole entire State

         22  Assembly, so I know that all of you understand that

         23  there is more flexibility in an election year than

         24  there is in almost any other year in the legislative

         25  process, so we are going to be working with you, I
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          2  think the best and strongest action we could take

          3  with you in helping you with the State Legislature

          4  is to pass our bill and as quickly as possible,

          5  that's the affirmative statement.

          6                 So, again, I thank you very much for

          7  your testimony, and we'll look forward to working

          8  with you. Thank you.

          9                 MS. DELRIO: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We want to have

         11  next -- we don't have names -- oh, maybe I do. I

         12  apologize.

         13                 Michael Smith. James Chin. Robert

         14  Bishop, is it? And Bernard Ruggieri, is that it? Did

         15  I get that right? Thank you. Please be seated, and

         16  welcome.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I might

         18  observe, Mr. Chairman, while the witnesses are being

         19  seated, your unfamiliarity with their names is

         20  interesting, because those of us who served in

         21  Albany know these gentlemen very well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And I'm sure

         23  they're admirable and we'll be working with them,

         24  and I will be familiar with it.

         25                 Thank you, gentlemen, and one Ms.
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          2                 Would you please raise your right

          3  hands, and our counsel will swear you in.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          5  affirm that the testimony you will give here today

          6  will be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but

          7  the truth?

          8                 MS. COCHRAN: (spelled phonetically) I

          9  do.

         10                 MR. RUGGIERI: I do.

         11                 MR. CHIN: I do.

         12                 MR. SMITH: I do.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you all very

         14  much. Did you have any particular order that you

         15  wanted to testify in?

         16                 MR. SMITH: I'll go first.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Would you please

         18  identify yourself for the record. And let me give

         19  you a tip, the chair of this Committee is always

         20  impressed by the impromptness of testimony. I know

         21  there are certain pieces you want to get us to hear,

         22  but in brevity. All those count, significant points.

         23                 MR. SMITH: I will move as quickly as

         24  possible.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very
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          2  much. Because we will have your testimony here to

          3  review.

          4                 MR. SMITH: And I'll attempt to

          5  respond to some of the questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Please

          7  do.

          8                 MR. SMITH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman

          9  and members of the New York City Council.

         10                 My name is Michael P. Smith, and I'm

         11  President of the New York Bankers Association. The

         12  New York Bankers Association is comprised of

         13  community, regional, and money center commercial

         14  banks throughout the State of New York. In the

         15  aggregate our members have more than 220,000

         16  employees, and assets in excess of $1 trillion.

         17                 We welcome this opportunity to

         18  participate in this cooperative dialogue on the very

         19  important issue of predatory lending.

         20                 I'm accompanied by our General

         21  Counsel Roberta Cochran. And I stress, and we stress

         22  cooperation as we move forward, as the Chair has

         23  noted, in this first start.

         24                 We are a member, as has been

         25  mentioned, in the Fair Lending Coalition, and all of
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          2  our members are both subject to federal and state

          3  Reinvestment Act provisions.

          4                 The New York banking industry is more

          5  than ever committed to the economic and health of

          6  New York City, especially in the wake of September

          7  11th. We therefore appear today as staunch

          8  supporters of the City, the region and the state of

          9  New York, and to reaffirm our unwaivering opposition

         10  to predatory lending practices, which threaten the

         11  homes and economic well-being of New York City

         12  residents.

         13                 We remain committed to working with

         14  the City, state and federal officials to help

         15  eradicate this problem. Our policy includes, as has

         16  been noted in previous testimony by other groups,

         17  consumer education, community outreach. We'll talk

         18  about that for a few minutes.

         19                 Support for current laws and

         20  regulations, it's very important that we talk about

         21  that, because I think there have been questions

         22  today that need to be expanded on as to what's going

         23  on with the law today, especially since, for

         24  example, the Delta funding.

         25                 Self-regulation, industry discipline,
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          2  first association in the United States, state

          3  association to adopt best practices in this area.

          4                 We want to expand our credit to low

          5  and moderate-income borrowers, and we're going to

          6  talk about that, and we believe new uniform state

          7  and federal laws and regulations, which strengthen

          8  criminal and civil penalties clearly define

          9  predatory practices.

         10                 Our policy is based on one single

         11  principle, stopping predatory practices without

         12  hurting the availability of credit for low- and

         13  moderate-income borrowers. We, therefore, support

         14  existing laws at the local, state and federal

         15  levels, which seek to protect consumers from

         16  predatory lending.

         17                 We have also pledged to work with

         18  local, state and federal officials to be part of a

         19  workable, effective and uniform solution to the

         20  problem, and I think that goes to the question of a

         21  secondary market.

         22                 We do not, however, support the

         23  imposition on our already highly-regulated

         24  membership, this is the commercial banking sector,

         25  of overly restrictive new laws that would
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          2  inadvertently limit homeownership and improvement

          3  opportunities for many New Yorkers.

          4                 In this regard we believe that the

          5  local legislation, the proposal, subject to a

          6  hearing by the City Council today, contains overly

          7  restrictive thresholds and prohibitions, which is

          8  indeed inconsistent with current, state and federal

          9  mandates.

         10                 We believe this will have a chilling

         11  effect and impact on availability of credit by our

         12  member banks to low- and moderate-income New York

         13  City residents.

         14                 First, it is essential that we define

         15  and distinguish predatory lending and legitimate

         16  subprime home lending. A segment of our members are

         17  in the subprime lending market, not all of them.

         18                 Predatory lenders seek to take

         19  advantage of vulnerable consumers by misleading or

         20  deceiving them about the terms and conditions of

         21  their loans, and committing them to loans they

         22  probably will not be able to repay.

         23                 Legitimate subprime lenders provide

         24  loans to borrowers who do not meet the credit worthy

         25  standards for conventional prime loans.
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          2                 These are borrowers who might

          3  otherwise be deprived of the chance to own their own

          4  home, or benefit from the equity in their home.

          5                 It is important to note that subprime

          6  borrowers span all demographic groups. Often they

          7  are people who have experienced a temporary

          8  life-disrupting event, such as a job loss or medical

          9  emergency. Subprime borrowers may also have a

         10  history of credit problems. Typically they require

         11  more flexibility from their lenders on underwriting

         12  standards. They also present more credit or property

         13  risk.

         14                 The higher risk and volatility

         15  associated with these non-prime loans understandably

         16  results in higher rates and fees to borrowers than

         17  on prime loans.

         18                 When compared to prime rates and

         19  fees, some may regard these loans as high cost, but

         20  that does not mean that they are predatory. There

         21  should not be a stigma attached to loans that are

         22  responsibly priced for the risk involved.

         23                 Recognizing the difference between

         24  predatory lenders and legitimate subprime lenders is

         25  the key to effective legislation and regulation at
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          2  all levels of government.

          3                 Until recently, subprime borrowers

          4  had limited access to mainstream lenders. Now,

          5  however, due to improvements and credit scoring and

          6  technology, mainstream lenders are serving the needs

          7  for this segment of the population.

          8                 In fact, as was mentioned earlier,

          9  and is cited by the economist Robert Litan of the

         10  Brookings Institute, between 1993 and 1998, the

         11  number of subprime loans increased roughly ten-fold,

         12  and we've attached as an exhibit, his study.

         13                 Thus, with the recent expansion of

         14  the subprime market, tens of thousands more

         15  Americans have been able to finance the purchase of

         16  homes, consolidate and manage debt, overcome

         17  financial crises and pay for higher education.

         18                 If restrictive rules are imposed on

         19  legitimate lenders, however, access to credit may be

         20  significantly reduced.

         21                 There is already evidence of this

         22  where severe restrictions were adopted.

         23                 For example, legitimate lenders in a

         24  number of jurisdictions around the country left the

         25  market due to litigation and reputational risk, and
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          2  the increased cost and risk of servicing the

          3  subprime market, and we've attached Exhibit B, that

          4  has stories on these examples.

          5                 Restrictive legislation may adversely

          6  impact the sale of such loans into the secondary

          7  market, placing another potential impediment to

          8  credit.

          9                 Already mortgages, which are subject

         10  to the requirements of the Homeownership and Equity

         11  Protection Act of 1994, federal Act, that apply to

         12  high-cost loans are not eligible for purchase by

         13  Fannie Mae.

         14                 Additionally in a recent comment

         15  letter to the FDIC, the Bond Market Association

         16  noted that the imposition of "subjective and

         17  unreasonable responsibilities on secondary market

         18  participants" would have "a detrimental affect on

         19  legitimate subprime secondary market activity in

         20  which banks are broadly engaged, and would reduce

         21  the amount of legitimate and valuable credit

         22  available to subprime borrowers."

         23                 Thus, it is critical that while

         24  seeking to stop abusive predatory loan practices, we

         25  do not throw the baby out with the bathwater; that
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          2  is, we must be careful not to impose restrictions on

          3  legitimate lenders that inadvertently deny access to

          4  the very consumers we're seeking to protect.

          5                 We're therefore very concerned about

          6  the thresholds and some of the restrictions which

          7  are, at least indirectly imposed on lenders in the

          8  current version of introduction number 67 now

          9  pending before the Council.

         10                 We believe that if this law is

         11  enacted as is currently drafted, it could have a

         12  chilling effect on the availability of credit to New

         13  York City residents of legitimate subprime credit.

         14                 As lenders who wish to ensure their

         15  ongoing qualifications to do business with the City,

         16  they may opt out of the subprime lending market. We

         17  are concerned, too, that if New York City were to

         18  legislate additional restrictions on subprime

         19  lending, it would contribute to an inconsistent

         20  patchwork of conflicting legislation.

         21                 This would result in additional

         22  expenses and unnecessary confusion for lenders and

         23  consumers alike, and would ultimately result in the

         24  reduction and availability of credit for the

         25  citizens of the City.
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          2                 In this regard, we urge you to exam

          3  current state and federal laws and regulations

          4  covering legitimate licensed lenders, which address

          5  most of the practices associated with predatory

          6  lending. And I might add, Mr. Chairman, and to the

          7  panel, some of these changes have just happened in

          8  the last few months at the federal level and in the

          9  last 15, 16 months at the state level under Part 41.

         10                 HOEPA, for example, was enacted in

         11  '94 and has significant disclosure requirements. It

         12  also covers prohibited covered loans from containing

         13  certain onerous prepayment penalties or charging

         14  interest rate after default that is higher than the

         15  rate prior to default.

         16                 Additionally, HOEPA prohibits lenders

         17  from engaging in patterns of granting covered loans

         18  that do not take into account the borrower's ability

         19  to repay. HOEPA also gives the federal reserve broad

         20  regulatory authority to prohibit additional

         21  practices it finds to be unfair or deceptive.

         22                 The new thresholds that were just

         23  adopted by the federal reserve in the last few

         24  months don't even take effect until October, and

         25  those thresholds mirror the New York Banking
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          2  Department's regulation Part 41, which is eight

          3  percentage points above the comparable market as

          4  opposed to the thresholds in the City Council bill.

          5                 Closer to home, New York's Part 41

          6  high cost loan regulation is one of the strongest

          7  regulations in the nation, and has proven to be

          8  effective against predatory lenders.

          9                 In January, this is to the point that

         10  was asked earlier, the Superintendant of Banks

         11  announced the surrender of a mortgage broker's

         12  registration with prejudice for circumventing the

         13  Department's regulation by disguising mortgage

         14  broker fees as home improvement costs.

         15                 The Banking Department also made

         16  criminal referrals of all loan officers involved in

         17  this alleged fraudulent activity to the US

         18  Attorney's Office.

         19                 Thus, it is apparent that many tools

         20  already exist to address the problem. This is just

         21  one instance where vigorous enforcement of the

         22  current law can go a long way to eradicate predatory

         23  practices, and I believe, Roberta, that we're at

         24  about four now, the Department has indicated the

         25  actions that they have brought.
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          2                 MS. COCHRAN: In four actions to date.

          3                 MR. SMITH: This is post-41, not the

          4  Delta Funding issue.

          5                 As noted, stopping predatory lending

          6  is an important issue, major issue, in the State

          7  Legislature.

          8                 Two weeks ago we testified before the

          9  Senate Banks Committee as legislators grapple with

         10  how best to craft legislation in order to stop

         11  predatory lending without adversely affecting

         12  credit.

         13                 As we said in our testimony,

         14  strengthening the criminal penalties for clearly

         15  defined predatory practices would be an effective

         16  approach to combatting this problem, and that was

         17  discussed earlier, because I believe there was an

         18  article in the New York Times Sunday addition a week

         19  or two ago in the real estate section that talked

         20  about some problems and action the New York City

         21  Council -- or Consumer Affairs Department had taken

         22  against a predator, and I believe -- or a party, I

         23  should not say predator, an action -- and it's

         24  pending, but there is precedent for this.

         25                 We also pledged our continuing
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          2  commitment to engage in a constructive dialogue with

          3  the legislature on this issue, and with consumer

          4  groups such as AARP, the leading public advocate for

          5  a statewide solution to predatory lending.

          6                 Given the level of state and federal

          7  legislation and regulation, which exists today, and

          8  given New York State's strong commitment to finding

          9  additional legislative solutions in the near term,

         10  including our industry, we urge that New York City

         11  support a uniform meaningful state law this session,

         12  and we can talk, I know that some other initiatives

         13  were mentioned by the panel earlier.

         14                 The New York Bankers Association is

         15  also a strong believer in self-regulation, and we've

         16  submitted our best practices.

         17                 I think it's important, I know a lot

         18  of times people don't get to the exhibits, but I

         19  think that you'll see that these best practices

         20  address some of the concerns that have been raised

         21  today. These are best practices that our membership,

         22  about 100 banks, 120 banks, have committed to.

         23                 We developed our best practices to

         24  guide our members regarding covered loans. Those are

         25  loans that are in the high-cost lending area. They
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          2  reflect our commitment to current law and in several

          3  areas actually exceed current law and legal

          4  regulations.

          5                 For example, we advocate know your

          6  broker, know the contracts, know what you're

          7  involved in, and this is something that has national

          8  import, because our members operate on a national

          9  basis.

         10                 We believe that our best practices

         11  reflect the integrity of our members long practices.

         12  Something that came up in an earlier panel.

         13                 We are absolute supporters of fair

         14  lending laws, CRA, and I'm going to talk in a minute

         15  about some initiatives we've got going on in the

         16  boroughs that I think is important.

         17                 We pledge to regulate ourselves

         18  appropriately, self-regulate, and we want to work

         19  with those who are interested in ended this

         20  practice.

         21                 Consumer education. We are part of

         22  the coalition with the Federal Trade Commission,

         23  AARP, DCA, Better Business Bureau on Education and

         24  Fair Practices, and our brochure is being sent out,

         25  and just in the last month is in the exhibits.
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          2                 Our association is also engaged in an

          3  important outreach program called HELP, the House

          4  Equity Lending Program.

          5                 It's important to emphasize this,

          6  because it goes right to the heart of some of the

          7  testimony that has been given today. It links, we

          8  feel there's a communications issue here, and we've

          9  got to get our members and the residents of local

         10  communities around the boroughs and the City of New

         11  York in touch directly with our members. And we

         12  worked with faith-based groups, and are working with

         13  faith-based groups, with Fannie Mae, and with

         14  Senator Schumer, who is deeply concerned about some

         15  of the things that have gone on and have been

         16  discussed today. And our conclusion was we should

         17  set up an 800 number, which we've done as an

         18  association and residents of these communities, and

         19  we're just beginning to go with this program, and we

         20  met with about nine or ten ministers in Queens just

         21  a week or so ago, and the urging is going to be for

         22  people to call this number and our banks will take

         23  these names, applicants and call these individuals,

         24  the banks will call them, they will not have to go

         25  to the bank, in an attempt to bridge the
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          2  communication gap, and to spur on more lending in

          3  these communities. We're excited about that.

          4                 In conclusion, we support existing

          5  law. We urge you, whatever action you take, that it

          6  be part of a uniformed action. Obviously the City

          7  has jurisdiction in various areas, we advise you as

          8  to what we are doing. We're here to be a resource.

          9  And as noted, we are working with the State

         10  Legislature and with state parties, and we urge your

         11  support for an effective state law.

         12                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         14  much. I would normally ask to hear from the whole

         15  panel first, but I know Council Member Koppell has a

         16  question for you, Mr. Smith. Several of us have

         17  conflicting things, as you do. So, thank you.

         18                 Mr. Chin.

         19                 MR. CHIN: Mr. Chairman, my name is

         20  James Chin, I'm with the Securities Industry

         21  Association.

         22                 Let me identify what SIA is. SIA

         23  brings together the share interests of nearly 700

         24  securities firms to accomplish a common goal. SIA

         25  member firms include investment banks, broker
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          2  dealers, mutual fund companies, and are very active

          3  in the US and foreign markets, and in all phases of

          4  the corporate and public finance sectors.

          5                 The US Securities Industry managed

          6  the accounts of nearly 80 million investors directly

          7  or indirectly through the corporate thrift and

          8  pension plans.

          9                 On behalf of the membership of SIA we

         10  commend the City Council for its leadership in

         11  holding hearings today. These hearings serve as

         12  important information sharing opportunities to

         13  further all of our understanding of predatory

         14  practices. Given our members' prominent role in the

         15  secondary mortgage market as home mortgage loan

         16  assignees, and as securities underwriters, our

         17  objective is to provide the City Council with a

         18  collective response to Intro. 67.

         19                 It is our view that Intro. 67 would

         20  significantly increase, both the potential liability

         21  to which the secondary market participants would be

         22  exposed and the costs associated with securitizing

         23  New York subprime mortgage loans.

         24                 This would threaten to result in the

         25  decrease availability and increase costs of
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          2  residential mortgage financing for New Yorkers who

          3  might not have access to legitimate sources of

          4  credit.

          5                 Therefore, we urge the City Council

          6  to consider our views before any local measure is

          7  adopted that could severely impact the secondary

          8  mortgage markets, perhaps without achieving the

          9  desired intent of stopping predatory practices by

         10  unscrupulous financial entities.

         11                 SIA contends that the practice of

         12  making loans, using deceptive or illegal tactics,

         13  originates from the underlying consumer credit

         14  transaction, and the parties who control over the

         15  terms and dynamics of those transactions.

         16                 This is the point at which the direct

         17  interaction between mortgage originators and

         18  borrowers and where original loan origination

         19  standards may be best enforced.

         20                 Securitization, let me just explain a

         21  little bit the role of the secondary market.

         22  Securitization is a process through which certain

         23  assets are repackaged and sold to investors in the

         24  form of securities. Sellers, typically a mortgage

         25  lender, extends mortgage loans to borrowers, the
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          2  seller then sells a group or, quote, a pool of

          3  assets mortgage loans to the secondary market, hence

          4  the securities issuer.

          5                 The payment the lenders receive in

          6  exchange for the loans replenishes the funds used to

          7  make the original loans.

          8                 Those funds now are available to the

          9  lenders for other uses, including making loans to

         10  other potential homeowners.

         11                 Based on the income stream expected

         12  from the mortgages held by the securities issuer,

         13  securities are issued and sold to investors. The

         14  monthly principal and interest received from the

         15  mortgage borrower will be used to make monthly

         16  principal and interest payments to the investors in

         17  the issued securities. These securities are called

         18  mortgage back securities.

         19                 Individual mortgage loans are pulled

         20  together and the securities are created based on the

         21  principal and interest payments borrowers are

         22  expected to make under those mortgages.

         23                 I want to get into the actual, or

         24  what we believe are the perceived harmful

         25  consequences if Intro. 67 in its current form is
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          2  enacted.

          3                 First of all, let us say that we

          4  share the Council's frustration with the predatory

          5  practices of some of the mortgage providers.

          6  However, the approach of 67, Intro. 67 is not an

          7  effective way to eradicate those predatory

          8  practices.

          9                 In an effort to curb predatory

         10  lending practices, however, Intro. 67 looks to the

         11  underwriter who purchase and/or securitizes subprime

         12  loans in addition to the borrower or lender

         13  relationship.

         14                 This bill looks to the underwriter

         15  that do the business with the City to certify that

         16  they have not purchased, sold or securitized

         17  predatory loans. This is simply inconsistent with

         18  the principal role of the underwriter, which is to

         19  help issuers raise capital by structuring and

         20  selling securities to investors.

         21                 Underwriters are responsible to see

         22  whether issuers comply with securities laws and to

         23  protect the interests of the securities holders.

         24                 Underwriters of subprime backed debt

         25  are typically far removed from the mortgage
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          2  origination process and do not possess the loan

          3  origination expertise.

          4                 The cost and potential liability of

          5  conducting loan-level investigations would be

          6  significant and may force some firms to withdraw

          7  from the New York subprime securitization market

          8  entirely.

          9                 By increasing the potential liability

         10  associated with securitizing New York originated

         11  subprime home mortgage loans, Intro. 67 could result

         12  in the diminished availability and increased cost of

         13  obtaining a home mortgage loan, if one subprime

         14  borrower -- if one is a subprime borrower in New

         15  York, as less funding would be made available to New

         16  York's subprime residential mortgage markets.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Chin, I'm going

         18  to interrupt you for a second.

         19                 MR. CHIN: Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I do want you to

         21  try to shrink the rest of your testimony.

         22                 MR. CHIN: I have just a couple more

         23  comments.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In any of this,

         25  I'll take the prerogative of the chair here because

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            134

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  of a comment that you just made about the inability

          3  of them to check everything; do we ever ask these

          4  underwriters to affirm that the people that they've

          5  underwritten have lived up to all the obligations

          6  and protections that are there? That would be pretty

          7  simple, wouldn't it?

          8                 MR. CHIN: I believe that the

          9  underwriters, as I indicated before, the

         10  underwriter's responsibility is to comply with

         11  securities laws and to ensure that the investments

         12  that they're packaging, or the securities they're

         13  packaging are of significant investment grade.

         14                 To the extent that you're asking us

         15  to go to the front line, the origination point of

         16  view, it's certainly possible, but it's not doable,

         17  or is not economically feasible.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, you worked in

         19  an administration that was big on

         20  self-certification, so I'm just curious, why can't

         21  this industry self-certify that the loans that

         22  they've put out there are clean and that there's no

         23  problems with this? I don't see that as a

         24  significant cost.

         25                 You guys want to underwrite
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          2  something, you ask the people you're about to

          3  underwrite to confirm that there are no problems

          4  with the loans; how complicated is that?

          5                 MR. CHIN: As I indicated, again,

          6  these loans, we're talking about hundreds and

          7  hundreds of loans at a single time when you're

          8  pooling together a package.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And we're talking

         10  about hundreds and hundreds of people who have lost

         11  their homes.

         12                 MR. CHIN: I don't disagree with that,

         13  Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Don't play numbers

         15  with me here.

         16                 MR. CHIN: Well, I'm not disagreeing

         17  with the point you're trying to make here. But my

         18  point here is that the trouble that we're facing

         19  right now is at the front line.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         21                 MR. CHIN: It's at the origination

         22  stage, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Finish your

         24  testimony.

         25                 MR. CHIN: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I apologize.

          3                 MR. CHIN: A couple of last points.

          4                 SIA contends that -- well, excuse me.

          5  By increasing the potential liability -- sorry --

          6  SIA contends that this would be an adverse effect on

          7  legitimate subprime secondary market activity, which

          8  would reduce the amount of legitimate and valuable

          9  credit available to subprime borrowers.

         10                 Another point I want to make is that

         11  in our view, the effect of their departure, meaning

         12  the firms that securitize and therefore shrinking

         13  the credit availability, it is our view that the

         14  effects of their departure will limit competition in

         15  the mortgage market, perhaps restricting consumer

         16  choice and access to credit and drive consumers to

         17  potentially predatory providers who will remain in

         18  the mortgage market unimpeded by this legislation.

         19                 Recently, the media reported that an

         20  unfortunate and evidently foreseeable consequence is

         21  the flourishing of quote/unquote alternative and

         22  perhaps illegitimate credit providers in the pockets

         23  of the City's lower-income neighborhoods.

         24                 As a result of Intro. 67, the City

         25  might be deprived of the public finance expertise,
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          2  and that's the point OMB was trying to make.

          3                 We firmly believe that faced with the

          4  inability to effectively manage the potential

          5  liability under this bill, firms that securitize New

          6  York's subprime loans and are involved in New York

          7  municipal underwriting business, must choose between

          8  the two, or simply pull out of the New York market

          9  all together.

         10                 Our last point, and I think a number

         11  of members of your Committee have emphasized and we

         12  whole-heartedly agreed, is consumer education is the

         13  key for curtailing predatory practices.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, I know

         15  that our counsel and our staff reached out, has

         16  reached out to your organization to discuss this. I

         17  don't believe we've had a chance to meet with you;

         18  is that basically correct?

         19                 MR. CHIN: That is in fact the case.

         20                 What we're planning to do is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's all I want

         22  to know. So, we're going to set up a meeting, right?

         23                 MR. CHIN: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And we have been

         25  aggressively trying to make sure that everybody is
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          2  heard from in this. So, we will be scheduling a

          3  meeting with the staff, and if I'm able to attend, I

          4  will be there.

          5                 Thank you. Mr. Ruggieri.

          6                 MR. CHIN: I apologize for not

          7  introducing him, he's our outside counsel.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, you have not

          9  particular testimony.

         10                 Council Member Liu, you had some

         11  questions?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair. And thank you, gentleman, and lady, for

         14  coming down this afternoon.

         15                 I think one of the points that Mr.

         16  Anders from the OMB was trying to make was that so

         17  many of the financial institutions in New York are

         18  participating in securitizing the subprime market,

         19  the subprime loans. Is that true? Are there that

         20  many? Do you know the level of market participation?

         21                 MR. SMITH: Well, if you're talking

         22  about mortgage back securities, then I would --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Subprime mortgage

         24  backs.

         25                 MR. SMITH: The subprime, the Chairman
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          2  asked the question, it's an important question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Are we talking

          4  about one or two players, are we talking about a

          5  dozen players?

          6                 MR. SMITH: The one issue that was

          7  noted in our testimony that needs to be emphasized

          8  here, thresholds are important here. As you'll see

          9  as I mentioned in my testimony, the Fannie Mae does

         10  not take a HOEPA loans, because once you go over a

         11  threshold, you have this problem of certification

         12  and verification of everything regarding the loan.

         13  So, very often there really is not a secondary

         14  market or so-called subprime loans, or high-cost

         15  loans.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Subprime loans, by the

         18  way, do not have to be at the HOEPA threshold. We

         19  want to maintain the market for subprime lending,

         20  and the thresholds establishes a point upon which

         21  other things and other factors come into play.

         22                 The State government looked at this

         23  for about a year, and they decided that they would

         24  move their threshold 200 bases points, and I believe

         25  it was as a result of the delta funding issue. Down
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          2  below federal regulatory thresholds on first

          3  mortgages.

          4                 The federal reserve just changed

          5  their thresholds in the last few months, and those

          6  thresholds haven't even taken effect yet.

          7                 There's a lot, as we've discussed,

          8  and you have discussed today, of many, many elements

          9  to predatory lending, not the least of which many of

         10  these practices are already against the law, but how

         11  can we beef up the enforcement?

         12                 This legitimate secondary market, the

         13  legitimate subprime market should not be

         14  inadvertently swept into this issue. That's why the

         15  thresholds are very important, and we urge and we've

         16  been urging at the state level, in the Assembly bill

         17  that was mentioned, in the Senate bill that was

         18  mentioned, that the threshold mirrored the federal

         19  and the state law so that you have uniformity in the

         20  secondary markets, so, therefore, investors who are

         21  playing at a critically important role, which is

         22  providing liquidity and credit to people in

         23  communities in the City of New York not be knocked

         24  out of this market, and they want to have the

         25  comfort of that threshold.
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          2                 So, we're urging that those

          3  thresholds be uniform. When it comes to practices we

          4  have been engaged for over a year in Albany, and

          5  it's been stated publicly that the State is planning

          6  to move, by the Senate and the Assembly, Assembly

          7  has already passed the bill. We've been in

          8  negotiation on liability issues also. And many of

          9  the things that are in our best practices, and one

         10  of them is how do you perfect -- if you have the

         11  proper threshold, then you know you've isolated a

         12  large part of the problem. If you don't have the

         13  proper threshold, you create all the problems that

         14  have been discussed just in the last few minutes.

         15  Then becomes the issue of liability. Very important

         16  issue. You're dealing with thousands and thousands

         17  of mortgages in the mortgage back business, and this

         18  is an important element of the whole discussion.

         19  We're in negotiations on this. We've indicated to

         20  Council in meetings that we are engaged in these

         21  discussions, and we would be more than happy to

         22  share the results of those discussions with you

         23  because we understand your concern about this

         24  particular issue.

         25                 We would urge that anything you do,
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          2  as we said in the testimony, not create a distortion

          3  with the acts that are taking place both here in New

          4  York and at the federal level, New York is a major

          5  financial center. We're here to work with you to

          6  cooperate. We just don't want legitimate lenders,

          7  legitimate borrowers to get knocked out of this

          8  marketplace and that we focus on the practice.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you for

         10  that. Mr. Chair, if I may, thank you for the

         11  additional information, and maybe I can clarify my

         12  question, which was: Based on what you said, at the

         13  current federal and state levels, the thresholds.

         14                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: What kind of

         16  market participation among the big institutions do

         17  we have here --

         18                 MR. SMITH: I can tell you right now

         19  that some of our -- we have about, in our membership

         20  about three or four members that are doing subprime

         21  lending.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: In New York City?

         23                 MR. SMITH: In New York City, and in

         24  New York State. One of our members has indicated

         25  publicly they will leave -- you know, they do not
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          2  want to be defined, unfortunately, high cost lender

          3  and predatory lender have a tendency to be merged,

          4  and they do not want to engage in that business and

          5  they've made that known publicly.

          6                 If you're going to be in this high

          7  cost lending business, and that narrows the number

          8  down kind of substantially, then you have to -- you

          9  fall into all the other practices that trigger in

         10  the prohibitions.

         11                 For example, we've been arguing that

         12  inherently balloon payment, for example, has a very

         13  bad chronization (sic) but with the proper term

         14  attached to it, with the proper disclosure, balloon

         15  payments can be very helpful to consumers.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sir, so the

         17  answer is about three or four market players in New

         18  York State.

         19                 MR. SMITH: Our membership, in the

         20  subprime market.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Are there many

         22  players outside your membership that you're aware of

         23  that --

         24                 MR. SMITH: I am not. I believe that

         25  another association, and it was mentioned earlier,
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          2  Mr. Chairman, was it the Mortgage Bankers, or the

          3  Mortgage Brokers? There is an organization that

          4  represents other lenders.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

          6                 MR. SMITH: They are not in our

          7  membership. I'm talking about three or four.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: What about in

          9  Philadelphia?

         10                 MR. SMITH: But that would change, by

         11  the way, Councilman --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         13                 MR. SMITH: -- If the threshold were

         14  lower.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: In Philadelphia,

         16  how many market players would you say there are in

         17  the securitization of these prime mortgages?

         18  Roughly. Are we talking about one or two, or are we

         19  talking also about three or four?

         20                 MR. SMITH: I'm not familiar with the

         21  Philadelphia market.

         22                 They did pass an ordinance and the

         23  State of Pennsylvania passed a subsequent law. I

         24  can't -- we can try to get it for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Would you know --
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          2  yes, I mean I'd appreciate it if we could get this

          3  information over the next couple of weeks.

          4                 MR. SMITH: Are you talking

          5  underwriting now or lenders?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm talking about

          7  people who say they will leave the market. Whoever

          8  that may be. Whether they be underwriters, whether

          9  they be lenders themselves?

         10                 MR. SMITH: There were some who said

         11  they were going to leave the market and then the

         12  state --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: You're stating

         14  that out of the three or four participants among

         15  your membership in New York State right now, already

         16  one has publicly stated that they will leave the

         17  market.

         18                 MR. SMITH: No, they said that they

         19  would in response, this was the state hearing, that

         20  they did not want to be defined as a high-cost

         21  lender.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And, therefore,

         23  if the legislation passed, they would leave the

         24  market?

         25                 MR. SMITH: They indicated that they
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          2  would reconsider their business in that business,

          3  because they did not want to engage in what was

          4  defined as high-cost lending.

          5                 The issue that the City Council bill

          6  presents is a much different one, which is a doing

          7  business, and they have not testified on that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, in your

          9  comments, and I certainly appreciate your comments,

         10  and I'm sure that many of my colleagues do, as well,

         11  and in the testimony that you submitted, you gave

         12  two examples of companies that would leave the

         13  market when stronger predatory lending or

         14  anti-predatory lending legislation is passed --

         15                 MR. SMITH: We were concerned that

         16  they were going to leave. They have expressed --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I see.

         18                 MR. SMITH: Because it would knock the

         19  entire market, as it relates to the issue of the

         20  secondary market to how you are defined --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Everything would

         22  be thrown out of whack --

         23                 MR. SMITH: Yes, with a threshold that

         24  was 300 basis points below a federal established

         25  threshold, the state-established threshold. It would
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          2  cause significant --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Do you know if

          4  Canseco is still securitizing subprime mortgages in

          5  Philadelphia?

          6                 MS. COCHRAN: I don't know. The

          7  newspaper article that we have attached regarding

          8  Canseco was as a response to the Philadelphia

          9  ordinance, which was -- I don't even know if it ever

         10  went into effect, because Pennsylvania then

         11  instituted a statute, but the purpose of our

         12  exhibits are to indicate that when legislation is

         13  passed that has overly restrictive terms, people

         14  have pulled out or --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: My question

         16  simply is have they pulled out? Because this was I

         17  guess last June and July, and, so --

         18                 MR. SMITH: The state acted.

         19                 MS. COCHRAN: Well, the state acted,

         20  so I don't know if they pulled out because they're

         21  not subject to the Philadelphia ordinance.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Is the Bank of

         23  America still underwriting or securitizing in North

         24  Carolina?

         25                 MS. COCHRAN: I can't speak to
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          2  underwriting but they are not in the subprime

          3  business in North Carolina.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Because that's

          5  what they said they would do, they would leave the

          6  market?

          7                 MS. COCHRAN: They've pulled out.

          8  They've pulled out of that market.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: See, that's very

         10  helpful.

         11                 And Mr. Chair, I just have one quick

         12  question for this other gentleman. Thank you for

         13  testifying this afternoon.

         14                 Obviously I think that you could

         15  point all of the problems that we're faced with now

         16  to the point of origination, but even when investors

         17  and when the underwriters decide to pool hundreds of

         18  these loans together, they're underwriters, that's

         19  what they do. They assess the risk, they price a

         20  fair value on the amount of risk that's being borne

         21  by the people who would purchase these pools of

         22  assets. And in fact, if you look at the Fannie Mae

         23  model, there are already tests that have to be

         24  satisfied, and all we're saying here in this bill as

         25  it currently exists, is that these underwriters
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          2  should take a look at the practices. And we're not

          3  talking about originators who originate one or two

          4  loans a year, we're talking about, as you mentioned,

          5  hundreds of loans, and, so, there's got to be some

          6  institutional practices at those originating

          7  companies, and, so, these underwriters should

          8  certainly understand the kinds of origination

          9  practices that are practiced by the originators.

         10                 So, we're saying that there should be

         11  a level of additional due diligence in the

         12  underwriting practice, whether it be undertaken by

         13  the underwriters or by the original lenders

         14  themselves in packaging these pools of assets

         15  together for possible investors and possible

         16  purchasers.

         17                 And if they're not willing to do so,

         18  then the cost is simply you wouldn't do business

         19  with the City of New York.

         20                 Are we introducing another cost of

         21  doing business? Absolutely. That's exactly what

         22  we're doing, and it's a necessary cost of doing

         23  business, because people are being ripped off. And

         24  that's what I believe our Committee is trying to

         25  achieve.
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          2                 So, I mean, is that an unfair burden

          3  to the so-called underwriter, the people who are far

          4  removed from the origination process?

          5                 MR. CHIN: I think you're effectively

          6  changing the role of the underwriter. You're asking

          7  the underwriter to adopt essentially to be

          8  self-policing and a zero tolerance policy which is

          9  impractical. And I think that's very difficult --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: It's not actually

         11  zero tolerance, right? Because there is a little bit

         12  of leeway we're talking about here.

         13                 MR. CHIN: There is.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: In fact, when

         15  these underwriters or lenders or originators pool

         16  conforming mortgages, they have to follow certain

         17  types of rules to. So, while the packagers may not

         18  be at the forefront, at the point of origination of

         19  Fannie Mae conforming mortgages, they in fact do

         20  understand the processes that are followed by the

         21  originators.

         22                 So, I mean, isn't this just another

         23  type of careful underwriting that we're asking the

         24  big players to do?

         25                 MR. CHIN: Again, I want to emphasize
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          2  you're changing the role of the underwriter, and as

          3  I've indicated before, that's presenting problems

          4  for the underwriting sector.

          5                 And we believe as a consequence of

          6  that, is simply to not jeopardize, not to run Intro.

          7  67, simply to be removed from the business. And I'm

          8  not sure if that's the intent, to ask our firms to

          9  make that sort of business decision in the face of

         10  Intro. 67.

         11                 I think that's the difficulty we're

         12  struggling with at this time.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 MR. SMITH: We would be more than

         16  happy to have Fannie Mae come and talk, you know,

         17  provide information, and there is this issue of

         18  conforming and non-conforming, and about the

         19  liability issue which is important.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: There are lots of

         21  questions that have been asked will require some

         22  answers and we're going to have you -- have time to

         23  come back again. I know Council Member Sanders has a

         24  few questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 Council -- Mr. Chin, I guess I was

          4  predicting your next future, maybe it would be more

          5  fun to sit up here than down there, but then again,

          6  you may be having more fun there.

          7                 Let's return to the issue of

          8  underwriters for a moment. Certainly there are

          9  criteria that underwriters are using already. I

         10  mean, taking the argument that you are raising to,

         11  I'll admit an absurd position, we would then suggest

         12  that underwriters have no responsibility to make

         13  sure that there was no drug money involved in this,

         14  that there was no mob money involved in this, that

         15  there was no kiddie porn money involved in this. Of

         16  course, it's an absurd argument, and I'll admit it,

         17  and, so, certainly there are criteria that we're

         18  using already, one of the criteria, of course, is

         19  that it would be investment grade, that everything

         20  here would be something that, it wouldn't be an

         21  Enron type thing that we're selling to the next

         22  level in the food chain here.

         23                 So, there's criteria already in

         24  place, so is this an undue burden on the market? I'm

         25  sure that you may be able to make a stronger case,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            153

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  and I look forward to that at another moment, but

          3  the argument did not do it right now, but I'm sure

          4  there will be another day.

          5                 But let me quickly say that I am in

          6  favor of subprime lending. There is no attempt to

          7  end this practice. It is an honorable practice. We

          8  should all, and I trust we all are opposed to

          9  predatory lending, and how we define that, of

         10  course, we certainly can use your help in the

         11  definition. I think that that's important.

         12                 One or two questions for you, Mr.

         13  Smith, if you would be kind enough, sir.

         14                 Now, my first question, of course, is

         15  that you've been kind enough to say that there are

         16  laws on the books now in the state and other places,

         17  that is supported by the New York State Banking

         18  Association. Just a quick question for my own

         19  understanding: Did the New York State Banking

         20  Association support those current laws when they

         21  were introduced?

         22                 MR. SMITH: When they were introduced?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes, sir.

         24                 MR. SMITH: When the Banking

         25  Department first proposed their Part 41, our
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          2  membership did not embrace some of those provisions,

          3  which was I think indicative of the fact that they

          4  were considered to be extraordinarily strong, and

          5  they had a comment period which I believe lasted I

          6  believe six or eight months? And there were changes

          7  made and we supported the final regulation, and we

          8  support it today because we think it's important to

          9  support, because, quite, frankly, we want to

         10  differentiate ourselves from the predators and the

         11  practices, and that's what we're doing.

         12                 In fact, prior to the federal action,

         13  the federal reserve did not take action until about

         14  two or three months ago.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well, I'm

         16  certainly glad that perhaps you guys did not embrace

         17  it whole-heartedly at first, and with certain

         18  corrections or changes or additions.

         19                 MR. SMITH: True.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: You guys were

         21  wise enough to see that there was a need for law in

         22  that area.

         23                 Now, my last point with you, sir, is

         24  that my friends in OMB predicted a massive melt out

         25  of the market, and I either heard what might have
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          2  been either an ultra-leftest or an ultra-rightest

          3  statement that all banks were profiting from

          4  predatory lending and, therefore, it would be

          5  impossible to weed out the money stream, and

          6  everything would be tainted, therefore, we should do

          7  nothing. And I want you to assure me, sir, that

          8  that's not true, because it's not a theoretical

          9  thing for me. I had an elderly woman who came to my

         10  office recently, and she was talking about the need

         11  for her to find a room to live in, because her house

         12  was stolen thanks to predatory practices. Now, the

         13  deed was done by the time that she got to me, there

         14  was really nothing that could be done there, and

         15  that puts a different spin on things when I hold

         16  these conversations, not as theoretical as it may be

         17  to others.

         18                 So, please, if you could assure me,

         19  sir, that every bank is not either doing predatory

         20  lending or profiting from it. I'm not sure if OMB

         21  was saying that, but I need to know that someone out

         22  there has clean hands?

         23                 MR. CHIN: Sir, Council Member Davis,

         24  I believe --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Sanders.
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          2                 MR. CHIN: Sanders, I'm sorry.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: It's all

          4  right, his heart was in the right spot.

          5                 MR. CHIN: I think what OMB was

          6  suggesting was that it's very difficult to certify

          7  that every loan included in their pool does not stem

          8  from predatory practices. Because of that

          9  difficulty, firms will either make a choice between

         10  the two types of business lines, whether

         11  securitization, or doing business with the City of

         12  New York and investment banking activities and so

         13  forth. And as a result, once making that decision,

         14  firms may choose to abandon the investment banking

         15  sector, or they may choose to abandon the

         16  securitization sector line of business. I think

         17  that's, I mean OMB will probably be better to

         18  clarify that, but I believe that was Mr. Anders'

         19  comments.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Of course,

         21  you are aware, sir, that in 1999, North Carolina

         22  enacted the nation's first state anti-predatory

         23  lending law? Of course, 2000 was the first year that

         24  the reform became effective. North Carolina

         25  continued to be one of the nation's top ten states
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          2  for subprime lending. As a matter of fact, North

          3  Carolina had 15 percent more subprime home loans per

          4  capita than the rest of the nation; are you aware

          5  that this, in other words, did not have a negative

          6  impact?

          7                 MR. SMITH: The threshold I believe at

          8  North Carolina is the HOEPA threshold, or the Part

          9  41 threshold, and the threshold we're supporting in

         10  Albany, and it's the issue of the threshold being,

         11  for example, the Assembly bill last year had the

         12  threshold tied to five over the one-year treasury

         13  bill note and then it was change to comparable. It's

         14  significantly below the North Carolina law.

         15                 I can say, as far as our members are

         16  concerned, the banking industry, our statement of

         17  best practice stands on its face. It's against the

         18  law in the State of New York and in the United

         19  States to discriminate. New York and the federal

         20  government has strong fair lending laws.

         21                 The issue here that we're trying to

         22  differentiate is between predatory lending, and

         23  subprime lending.

         24                 We urge that any action within the

         25  State of New York, City of New York, State of New
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          2  York, be at thresholds that are reasonable and

          3  meaningful, and urge that it's eight.

          4                 The issue related to the secondary

          5  market, which you've been grappling with, is that

          6  you narrow the scope, and if you get the right

          7  threshold, then you're dealing with a band of loans

          8  in the so-called high-cost lending area. Then you

          9  can deal with the issue as to liability, and some of

         10  the issues you have raised, and we look forward to

         11  coming back to you and to the City Council to talk

         12  about our talks with the industry and with groups as

         13  to how you do that so that the loans can be

         14  underwritten in a safe and secure way, which is our

         15  objective.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you. I

         17  look forward to working with you through our Chair

         18  put the best legislation possible.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

         21  Member.

         22                 We have one last round. I'm going to

         23  just ask you some questions so that you can do your

         24  homework and come back, because of the lateness of

         25  the day we all have to move on to things, but in the
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          2  research that I see that we've done, I'm struck that

          3  it looks as if about 50 percent of the people who

          4  were being caught up in predatory lending, also

          5  would actually be eligible for a prime or a subprime

          6  loan. And, so, I don't understand why that is. Is it

          7  because there's no marketing done in that area? Is

          8  it because redlining went on for so long that the

          9  people in the neighborhood just can't imagine that a

         10  legitimate bank would lend the money? I don't want

         11  an answer right now, I want you to come up with some

         12  thoughts on that.

         13                 And I would think that, you know,

         14  there's a lot of wuff (sic) tickets being sold here

         15  today about if we do this somebody is going to leave

         16  the market. The strength of New York on a lot of --

         17  that means there's a lot of threats, suggestions,

         18  that's what "wuff ticket" means in the neighborhood

         19  -- we are so big, it's hard to leave something this

         20  big, but you might not get as big a bite of it, but

         21  all this talk about I'm going to have to leave the

         22  market, I just find that maybe if this was, you

         23  know, Westchester, one of them little towns in

         24  Westchester, that you all want to walk away from,

         25  but Mr. Chin, I guess this is directed at you, talk
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          2  about leaving this market, you know, that's hard for

          3  me to believe somebody's going to say that law is

          4  too aggressive and we're leaving town.

          5                 MR. CHIN: I believe that --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You all live here,

          7  you can't leave.

          8                 MR. CHIN: Well, this may not be the

          9  answer, and actually in a way I'm posing a question,

         10  don't you want New York City to foster competition?

         11  Didn't you want as many participants as possible.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: As long as it's

         13  fair. I think that's what we're looking towards.

         14                 MR. CHIN: I really believe that goes

         15  to the heart of the sort of the policy challenges

         16  that you're faced with.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Exactly. So, we'll

         18  look forward to having that meeting.

         19                 Thank you all very much for coming.

         20                 MR. SMITH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The last panel, I

         22  believe Josh Zinner. Richard Marsico. I know some

         23  people may have had to leave. I apologize. And

         24  Gloria Valdez. Is Ms. Valdes here? Yes. Now, be

         25  aware because we are going to try and be out of here
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          2  at 4:30. We are having another hearing, and if you

          3  want, we'll make sure you're at the top of the

          4  hearing in your testimony, because as you could see,

          5  you might be telling it just to the Chair. So, if

          6  you want to defer your testimony where there will be

          7  a more fuller panel, we're happy to have you do

          8  that.

          9                 You're Josh.

         10                 Would you swear them in, please?

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         12  your right hand.

         13                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         14  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         15  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MR. ZINNER: I do.

         17                 MS. VALDES: I do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Zinner, please

         19  begin. And I apologize, I just need to stand up for

         20  a minute, but I'm listening to you.

         21                 MR. ZINNER: Okay.

         22                 Well, I'll try and be brief. I have a

         23  lot to say, but I guess we're out of time.

         24                 I run the Foreclosure Prevention

         25  Project at South Brooklyn Legal Services, and we've
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          2  been operation since 1998, in which time we've

          3  received thousands of complaints regarding predatory

          4  lending.

          5                 We get complaints from all over from

          6  City and State agencies, from the Department of

          7  Consumer Affairs, the Commission on Human Rights,

          8  the Department for the Aging, the District Attorney,

          9  the Attorney General, the courts and so on, we're

         10  literally swamped with complaints regarding

         11  predatory lending, and I was going to relate a

         12  couple of those stories, but I think we heard some

         13  testimonies earlier and they're in my written

         14  testimony.

         15                 What I would like to say is because

         16  we have spoken to so many homeowners who are at risk

         17  of foreclosure due to predatory lending, that we're

         18  very aware of the wide array of abusive practices

         19  that are out there, particularly in communities of

         20  color in New York City.

         21                 One thing I would like to emphasize

         22  is that these practices are not the work of a few

         23  rogue criminals as the industry would like us to

         24  believe. This is not about a few brokers, these are

         25  pervasive practices that we're talking about that
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          2  are engaged in by a wide number of institutions,

          3  some of them very large and well known corporations.

          4                 Now, some of the practices that we

          5  see very commonly, and I know some of these were

          6  touched on earlier, but I again want to emphasize

          7  them because we see many of these loans that are

          8  made based on the equity in people's homes rather

          9  than people's ability to pay. I mean, literally,

         10  particularly in New York City where property values

         11  are high. There is really no risk in making these

         12  loans, and, so, what we see is brokers and lenders

         13  are pushing loans on people, particularly seniors on

         14  fixed incomes, that are unaffordable, and what

         15  happens is that either way the lenders win. Either

         16  the borrowers are making payments on a high-cost

         17  loan, sort of barely scraping by, or else the lender

         18  goes and forecloses on the property, in which case

         19  they then purchase the property back at auction and

         20  resell it on the market, realizing a significant

         21  market.

         22                 We're also seeing very high broker

         23  fees, both financed out of the loan and also in the

         24  form of yield spread premiums or kickbacks, which

         25  are basically extra payments on top of brokers' fees
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          2  that are paid by lenders to brokers in exchange for

          3  the broker bringing the borrower to the lender at a

          4  higher interest rate than they otherwise would have

          5  qualified for.

          6                 We're seeing very high points in

          7  other fees on loans, inflated interest rates that

          8  are not justified by risk; loan flipping, or

          9  repeated refinancing with more and more points and

         10  fees added and more equity taken out of the home;

         11  single premium credit insurance that's financed up

         12  front in the loan, overpriced home improvement

         13  contracts for work that is often not completed or

         14  shoddy, the refinancing of people's credit card or

         15  medical bills, unsecured debt, not tied to the home

         16  into a mortgage, and people are on a fixed income

         17  and are otherwise judgment proof; in other words,

         18  credit card companies can't collect from, this is a

         19  devastating practice and forces many people into

         20  foreclosure.

         21                 That's just a quick list of the

         22  practices, but as I said, we see thousands of these

         23  cases and we're very familiar with many of the

         24  practices as they exist on the street.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Could I ask you a
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          2  question here?

          3                 MR. ZINNER: Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  First of all, we

          5  really appreciate your patience and the work that

          6  you've done, I don't want you to feel like you have

          7  to speed through the testimony to make your point,

          8  you're making them very profoundly.

          9                 What is the number of cases that

         10  you're seeing? And your at South Brooklyn Legal

         11  Services, is the area that you work in exclusively,

         12  or what is the caseload that you're seeing there?

         13                 MR. ZINNER: Well, we're literally

         14  swamped. I mean, we're the only legal services

         15  project in the City that's dealing exclusively with

         16  this problem. Right now we're two attorneys, we get

         17  calls from all over the City.

         18                 Our focus is on Brooklyn, but we have

         19  clients all over the City and we try and train

         20  lawyers and community groups to assist people.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Focus is what, sir?

         22                 MR. ZINNER: Our focus is on Brooklyn.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Brooklyn.

         24                 MR. ZINNER: That's where we're based,

         25  but we work with people all over the City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm just trying to

          3  understand here. First of all, it was interesting,

          4  you said DCA refers people to you. So, the City

          5  refers people to you to try to help them out of

          6  these deals?

          7                 MR. ZINNER: It's not just the

          8  Department of Consumer Affairs, it's a lot of City

          9  agencies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, no, no, I

         11  understand that, but --

         12                 MR. ZINNER: It's a lot of City

         13  agencies.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, a lot of City

         15  agencies.

         16                 MR. ZINNER: A lot of City and state

         17  agencies.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see.

         19                 MR. ZINNER: In other words, none of

         20  the agencies can really help individuals. Consumer

         21  affairs can with contractor issues, but when people

         22  are in foreclosure, there are no City or state

         23  agencies that can provide direct assistance to the

         24  consumers. So, they're referred to our office often.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Because I know the
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          2  Administration is here, I want them to take note of

          3  the number of referrals.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 He is writing those notes down.

          6                 So, the City is referring them to

          7  you, and the City is now cutting your budget.

          8                 MR. ZINNER: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's difficult.

         10                 MR. ZINNER: We're struggling.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, just to put a

         12  number on that -- so, would I say that you've

         13  handled 200 of these in a year?

         14                 MR. ZINNER: Roughly, yes.

         15                 I mean, we've had well over 1,000

         16  complaints. Many of them, unfortunately, despite

         17  what the industry would have you believe, the laws

         18  are not strong at all as far as protecting

         19  individual home-owners from foreclosure. So,

         20  unfortunately we see many abusive cases in which

         21  we're really not able to help people.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And how many people

         23  would you say you've been able to pull back from the

         24  clutches here, the jaws of foreclosure?

         25                 MR. ZINNER: I would say probably in
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          2  the last four years maybe less than 100 out of well

          3  over 1,000 calls.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, about ten

          5  percent?

          6                 MR. ZINNER: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And there's no

          8  damages, once you've found some of these, have been

          9  able to find some of these companies in violation?

         10  Have you gotten in early enough to find that they've

         11  been in violation of the existing laws that are

         12  here?

         13                 MR. ZINNER: Well, when we can get in

         14  there early enough, which, unfortunately, is not

         15  enough of the time, often people come to us when

         16  they're already, they're house is on the auction

         17  block, but I mean what we try and do is settle

         18  cases. It's most efficient in terms of helping the

         19  highest amount of people --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, what does

         21  this settlement mean? Just give me an idea.

         22                 MR. ZINNER: Finding a way for that

         23  homeowner to be able to afford to stay in their home

         24  for the rest of their lives.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, does that mean
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          2  you find someone else to help finance that's more

          3  legit? Or you work with that company to make payment

          4  that the people can actually perhaps make?

          5                 MR. ZINNER: What we do, we're working

          6  with a consortium of groups, including the Parodnick

          7  Foundation (phonetic), which is another non-profit

          8  group, to get people refinanced who have been

          9  targeted for predatory loans at more conventional

         10  rates.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, in other words,

         12  the predators will still get paid off, but they'll

         13  get paid off by a bank that's going to give somebody

         14  an affordable loan; is that how it works?

         15                 MR. ZINNER: Well, typically what we

         16  try and do, because people's equity has been

         17  illegally taken out of their home, is to try and get

         18  the lender to take a write-down, to take a lesser

         19  amount. And actually, that can be very difficult,

         20  because these loans are almost typically sold almost

         21  immediately into the secondary market, usually into

         22  the securitization pools that were described

         23  earlier.

         24                 And these securitization agreements,

         25  I mean you should look at one, they're 100 pages
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          2  long and they're drafted very carefully so that

          3  there's less and less liability further up that you

          4  can get.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, you can't get

          6  -- in other words, once it gets into that

          7  securitized market, you can't really even cut a deal

          8  with the predator because he or she doesn't have it

          9  anymore; is that it?

         10                 MR. ZINNER: Exactly.

         11                 We will attempt to go after the

         12  originating lender, but we have to deal with the

         13  servicer for the trust, and that can be very

         14  difficult.

         15                 Frankly, it really depends on who the

         16  servicer is, but many of the servicers for these

         17  securitization trusts play hardball and claim that

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm not sure what a

         20  "servicer" is.

         21                 MR. ZINNER: Let me explain.

         22                 These trusts basically, there's an

         23  entity that will take different roles, there's an

         24  underwriter typically that will underwrite that

         25  trust, and then there's a trustee for the trust,
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          2  which will take the payments basically that come in

          3  from people's monthly payments and pay out a portion

          4  of those into the security holders, whether they be

          5  investment, pension funds, or whoever those

          6  investors might be. And each trust will also have a

          7  servicer. The servicer's responsibility is to

          8  collect monthly payments from the homeowners, and

          9  the servicer's responsibility is also to foreclose

         10  on homeowners when those homeowners can't make their

         11  payments.

         12                 And what happens is, with --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They're being paid

         14  by the security market?

         15                 MR. ZINNER: Exactly. The servicers

         16  are paid a servicing fee basically for that service.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: These are the same

         18  people that want to be held harmless?

         19                 MR. ZINNER: Exactly, yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. I want to

         21  stop you right there because I don't want to be

         22  upset before I have lunch or dinner today.

         23                 But what I want to ask you, you can

         24  certainly make a last statement, but what I would

         25  like for you to do is to find out when we are having
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          2  our next hearing, and I'd like you to be at the top

          3  of the list to sort of break down some of this,

          4  because I don't think we've heard this element.

          5  We've certainly heard from some of the people that

          6  have been in this situation, but I think Council

          7  Member Sanders would agree that this is a whole new

          8  dimension of it, and, so, I would like you to walk

          9  us through some of this at the next hearing, and,

         10  again, I just want to apologize for the time. I

         11  don't want what you're saying to be lost, because

         12  it's 4:30. I think it's very important, I think they

         13  also, the industry, needs to hear this from someone

         14  who has been trying to help people. So feel free to

         15  make any other comments you want to make this

         16  afternoon, but I want to thank you for being here,

         17  and this is a part of it that we need to get them at

         18  the top of the next meeting to hear exactly this

         19  whole servicing piece that you're talking about. So,

         20  I would ask our counsel to make sure you know about

         21  it, and we have you at the beginning of the meeting.

         22                 MR. ZINNER: Yes, I thank you, and I

         23  would certainly be happy to do that.

         24                 And I do have a lot to say on the

         25  issue because we're dealing with these cases on a
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          2  daily basis, and I know we're sort of out of time. I

          3  wanted to make maybe a couple very quick points.

          4                 One is that there is discussion here

          5  by the industry about how this will dry up subprime

          6  lending. It's very important to point out that under

          7  the bill proposed in Albany, Senate Bill 5005 and

          8  also the bill proposed by the City Council, there

          9  are certain thresholds that set out a very clear

         10  definition of what is a high-cost loan and what

         11  isn't, and there is plenty of room below those

         12  thresholds to make responsible subprime loans that

         13  are legitimately priced for risk.

         14                 What's happening is people aren't

         15  being legitimately priced for risk, they're being

         16  gouged, and what these bills would do is prevent

         17  gouging.

         18                 One, the industry always says every

         19  time there's some form of potential regulation that

         20  it's going to dry up credit. They said this about

         21  Part 41, and in contrast I think to what Mr. Smith

         22  was saying, the industry was strongly against these

         23  regulations, and if you look at the record of the

         24  testimony you can see that.

         25                 With the North Carolina bill the
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          2  industry has been saying now for two years that

          3  credit, subprime credit is dried up in North

          4  Carolina, and there's ample evidence, in fact, that

          5  that's not the case.

          6                 And, finally, I'd like to say that

          7  it's very, very important, and I think other people

          8  have said this, that Senate Bill 5005 and Assembly

          9  Bill 7828 are crucial, because what they do is

         10  provide defenses to borrowers, and under existing

         11  law, including the Banking Department Regulation

         12  Part 41, there are not adequate defenses to

         13  borrowers who are actually in foreclosure as a

         14  result of these loans, and, so, it's crucial that

         15  the Council do what it can to support these bills in

         16  Albany, as well as push it's own good work.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         19  much. We're going to make sure that I've had a

         20  chance to meet with you so we can look at how we

         21  want to try to help frame the next round of

         22  questions. So, if you'd reach out or have them make

         23  sure that we know how to get in touch with you.

         24                 MR. ZINNER: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. ZINNER: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I appreciate it.

          5                 Ms. Valdes.

          6                 MS. VALDES: Back in last summer I

          7  tried to reach your office, and the gentleman with

          8  the name of Joshua received my phone call.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You tried to reach

         10  my office?

         11                 MS. VALDES: Yes, you. I wanted to

         12  speak to you. A very big crime was committed against

         13  my family and myself. We came 30 years ago to this

         14  country. We came educated and with money. This is

         15  the difference. We bought two buildings from the

         16  City of New York. In those days the buildings were

         17  going in Harlem for 20,000, 30,000, and this is the

         18  state of the neighborhood, garbage all over the

         19  place, particularly 105th Street was the capital of

         20  the drug trade in those days. We came with

         21  containers, we cleaned up those buildings, we

         22  cleaned the street, and we invested $1.7 million in

         23  a very long period of time. For ten years it took us

         24  to deliver these properties.

         25                 So, what I am bringing in here is
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          2  thank you, first of all, to ACORN who invited me

          3  here, outstanding non-profit organization. Why I am

          4  here is because if in the overhaul of your new

          5  policies about these predatory lenders, or bankers,

          6  you must also put some stipulations in there about

          7  the predatory tactics of the lawyers. Some of them

          8  are just heartless.

          9                 Can you imagine, if we deliver the

         10  most beautiful properties in the whole Harlem, that

         11  means that we are quality people. If you close these

         12  two best shelters, then there's what kind of people

         13  they are, horrible people. And when you choose the

         14  horrible people against a family that had invested,

         15  not only through ten years of renovating those

         16  properties, but eight years working with the

         17  homeless families, then you are criminal. And the

         18  criminal in this case is Stan Bruzinski (phonetic),

         19  the lawyer for the homeless, general counsel for the

         20  Department of Homeless Services. He cut a deal with

         21  the Mafia for six hotels, paying them 104 and 110

         22  without a contract. And meanwhile I have a

         23  legitimate contract, and I have suffered all the

         24  inequitables -- the inequities from a very double

         25  society, one for the poor and one for the rich. I
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          2  happened to invest my money in Harlem. Why? Because

          3  I saw the potential, I had vision.

          4                 Now, when we finished the buildings,

          5  neither the banks, nor my family knew what to do

          6  with them, because seven deaths have happened in the

          7  building, in front of the building.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Ms. Valdes, I

          9  appreciate what you're saying. You just came today

         10  so you don't have written testimony, right?

         11                 MS. VALDES: I don't have written

         12  testimony.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's all right.

         14  It's perfectly fine. I'm just trying to understand.

         15                 MS. VALDES: I do have something in

         16  here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right. Well, we

         18  will make a point of copying that testimony and

         19  making sure that it gets entered into the record.

         20  I'm beginning to be familiar with some of the

         21  particular building and issue that you're raising,

         22  but some of those issues are related to homeless

         23  services, and it's not specifically or germane right

         24  now to this.

         25                 My staff will certainly try to sit
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          2  down --

          3                 MS. VALDES: It's predatory what they

          4  did to me, and what I am saying is not only the

          5  predatory tactics of the lawyer, that they are the

          6  ones that moved the whole thing. But also, the

          7  discriminatory practices of the banks, how in the

          8  whole world I go to them for a million dollar loan,

          9  and the City is paying me 150,000, and all is needed

         10  is 112, and the excuse was, sorry, but you don't

         11  make enough.

         12                 And I said, "How much do I need?"

         13                 "$112,000."

         14                 I said, "I have in here $150,000."

         15                 I mean, I wouldn't be able to cope

         16  before in my life because I had a child that was

         17  lobotomized by two hospitals in New York City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, Ma'am, I

         19  appreciate it.

         20                 So, if the Sergeant-At-Arms could

         21  take that testimony, we appreciate your coming.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 We will resume this I believe on the

         24  22nd, but I would caution everybody to check the

         25  date. We may have to adjust it, but it would
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          2  certainly be in that week.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Mr. Chair?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I just want

          6  to compliment you for doing an outstanding job, and

          7  I just wanted that on the record.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Meeting is adjourned. Thank you.

         11                 (The following written testimony was

         12  read into the record.)

         13

         14

         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  New York Public Interest Research Group

         17

         18  Statement of the New York Public Interest Research

         19  Group in Support of Intro. 67, A Local Law In

         20  Relation To Prohibiting The City From Doing Business

         21  With Institutions That Engage, Directly or

         22  Indirectly, In Predatory Lending Practices.

         23  New York, New York

         24

         25  April 1, 2002
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          2

          3                 The New York Public Interest Research

          4  Group (NYPIRG) is New York State's largest student

          5  directed consumer protection, environmental

          6  preservation and social justice advocacy

          7  organization. NYPIRG is headquartered on Murray

          8  Street across from City Hall and has eight other

          9  offices in New York City, with a total of 24 offices

         10  across New York State.

         11                 NYPIRG is pleased to have this

         12  opportunity to support the New York City Council's

         13  Initiative to protect vulnerable homeowners from the

         14  predatory and abusive lending practices in the

         15  subprime mortgage lending marketplace. We applaud

         16  Speaker Miller and the Committee on Consumer Affairs

         17  for advancing this important initiative, and

         18  promptly commencing the public debate on this issue.

         19                 Since the 1970s, NYPIRG has worked to

         20  protect New York's low- and moderate-income

         21  homeowners and communities on such issues as bank

         22  redlining and unfair real property taxation.

         23                 Those efforts complement NYPIRG's

         24  work on consumer banking issues, including leading

         25  efforts in 1994 to require that banks in New York
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          2  offer low-cost to basic banking, checking accounts

          3  so that working people, New Yorkers on fixed incomes

          4  and students can leave the ranks of the "unbanked"

          5  and open inexpensive checking accounts.

          6                 For the past several years, NYPIRG

          7  has supported comprehensive legislation to address

          8  abuses in subprime home mortgage lending. NYPIRG is

          9  on the Steering Committee of New Yorkers for

         10  Responsible Lending, a coalition of 85 senior

         11  citizen, consumer, community and legal services

         12  organizations, as well as community-based lenders.

         13                 NYPIRG and the members of NYRL

         14  support comprehensive legislation in the New York

         15  State Legislature, S.5005, introduced by Senate

         16  Banking Committee Chair Hugh Farley, and A.7828-A,

         17  introduced by Assembly Banking Committee Chair

         18  Aurelia Greene.

         19                 The framework and strong protections

         20  used in these bills are adapted and incorporated

         21  into the City Council's Initiative.

         22                 The thrust of this initiative is very

         23  simple: New York City will use its financial

         24  resources, tax breaks and subsidies to promote

         25  responsible mortgage lending and discourage
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          2  predatory and abusive practices.

          3                 Under this proposal, those who engage

          4  in or support clearly defined predatory mortgage

          5  lending practices will not benefit from doing

          6  business with the City or through financial

          7  assistance of any type.

          8                 When adopted, this will not only

          9  deprive unworthy recipients of benefits, but it will

         10  drive the marketplace to change harmful and

         11  irresponsible conduct.

         12                 There has been an explosion in the

         13  growth of the subprime market over the past decade.

         14                 From 1993 to 1998, subprime home

         15  mortgage loans increased from 104,000 to 997,000.

         16                 In 1993, subprime home mortgage

         17  lending was a $25 billion business, in 2000 subprime

         18  mortgage loans exceeded $140 billion. Subprime

         19  lenders made less than five percent of the mortgages

         20  in 1993, but almost 13 percent by 1999.

         21                 In the New York City area, subprime

         22  lending increased from 0.9 percent in 1993, to 9.8

         23  percent of the total market in 1999.

         24                 For mortgage refinancings, subprime

         25  market share grew from one percent to 20.3 percent
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          2  in 1999. Unfortunately, along with the access to

          3  capital came serious problems with the way many

          4  subprime mortgages were marketed, packaged, closed

          5  and serviced.

          6                 The problems and abuses in the

          7  subprime mortgage lending industry have been the

          8  subject of actions and comments by federal and state

          9  regulators, including Federal Reserve Board Chairman

         10  Alan Greenspan, the US Department of Treasury, the

         11  US Department of Housing and Urban Development, the

         12  Federal Trade Commission, the Office of the Attorney

         13  General of the State of New York, and the New York

         14  State Banking Department.

         15                 The policy concerns voiced by these

         16  regulators are detailed in the experiences of the

         17  clients that housing counselors, community

         18  advocates, and Legal Services attorneys are seeing

         19  with increasing frequency in their offices in New

         20  York City's suburban and rural areas.

         21                 While no part of the state has been

         22  spared, New York City, with its escalating real

         23  estate values has been particularly hard hit.

         24                 There are two dirty little secrets in

         25  the area of predatory lending. First, it's not just
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          2  fly-by-night improvement contractors and storefront

          3  lenders who engage in abusive practices, but well

          4  known national banks and finance companies as well.

          5                 Second, predators are aided and

          6  abetted by Wall Street firms that scrutinize

          7  subprime mortgage loans and market them as

          8  mortgage-backed securities to investors.

          9                 Understanding the role of national

         10  banks, finance companies and Wall Street investment

         11  firms and predatory lending is critical to this

         12  issue, since they are the firms that primarily will

         13  be affected by this proposal. Some recent examples

         14  follow.

         15                 The Federal Trade Commission recently

         16  sued Citigroup and its recently acquired subprime

         17  lender, The Associates. The FTC cited a pattern of

         18  misleading borrowers and packing loans with

         19  unnecessary and costly products.

         20                 In support of the FTC's lawsuit, an

         21  affidavit of a former CitiFinancial Assistant

         22  Manager was submitted. The affidavit describes in

         23  great detail the extraordinary pressures put on bank

         24  employees to get homeowners to refinance their

         25  mortgages, including encouraging them to take their
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          2  unsecured debt, such as credit card debt, and roll

          3  it into their mortgage.

          4                 More recently, the Federal Trade

          5  Commission announced that it had entered into a $60

          6  million settlement with First Alliance Mortgage

          7  Corporation. First Alliance was alleged to have

          8  deceived homeowners by concealing extremely high

          9  fees and interest rates.

         10                 While these actions help to police

         11  the market, they are no substitute for strong laws

         12  and regulations that prevent predatory and abusive

         13  conduct. For a homeowner who has lost their home,

         14  litigation is of little comfort, even if it brings

         15  some modest financial settlement.

         16                 The approach taken by the City

         17  Council in Intro. 67 has tremendous merit and should

         18  be adopted by Cities and municipalities across the

         19  state and nation. Government can and should drive

         20  marketplace conduct to change business practices

         21  that are unfair, unjust and discriminatory.

         22                 Moreover, this sends a very important

         23  message to the New York State Legislature: Since you

         24  haven't addressed this problem, which is separating

         25  New York City residents from their homes and tearing
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          2  at the fabric of communities, we at the New York

          3  City Council will.

          4                 NYPIRG strongly supports this

          5  approach and urges the Consumer Affairs and

          6  Protection Committee to refine the language in Intro

          7  67 and advance it for full consideration by the City

          8  Council.

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Richard D. Marsico

         12  Professor of Law

         13  New York Law School

         14

         15                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         16  testify regarding Intro. No. 67. This legislation is

         17  urgently needed to help curb predatory lending

         18  practices in New York City. It is no coincidence

         19  that predatory lending - which are loans that

         20  borrowers cannot afford to repay - combined with a

         21  weak economy, has resulted in a dramatic increase in

         22  foreclosures in New York City that was recently

         23  reported in the New York Times.

         24                 Predatory lending in New York City is

         25  concentrated in predominantly minority and low- and
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          2  moderate-income neighborhoods and puts the

          3  well-being and stability of these neighborhoods at

          4  risk.

          5                 The City of New York thus has a

          6  significant interest in curbing predatory lending.

          7  The City also has an essential role. Most predatory

          8  lenders are not banks, meaning they are not covered

          9  by the federal Community Reinvestment Act which the

         10  federal government is increasingly using to curb

         11  predatory lending practices.

         12                 Local Law Intro. No. 67 is crucial in

         13  filling this gap, as it covers predatory lenders,

         14  whether they are banks or not.

         15                 My testimony will focus on one

         16  particular aspect of predatory lending: It's

         17  disproportionate presence among four populations

         18  whose credit needs have traditionally been

         19  underserved.

         20                 Without access to traditional forms

         21  of credit, these populations are susceptible to

         22  predatory lending, and predatory lenders have filled

         23  the vacuum left by traditional lenders.

         24                 The population I will focus on are

         25  predominantly minority neighborhoods, low and
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          2  moderate income (LMI) neighborhoods, minority

          3  individuals and low and moderate income (LMI)

          4  individuals. Based on research I have conducted

          5  using home mortgage lending data collected by the

          6  Federal Reserve and the Department of Housing and

          7  Urban Development, these communities have suffered

          8  disproportionately from abusive lending practices.

          9                 Before describing my research

         10  results, I have a few preliminary matters to

         11  describe.

         12                 First, data is not yet available that

         13  allows us to identify loans, individual loans, that

         14  are predatory. The best we are able to do is

         15  identify loans made by subprime lenders. My research

         16  is based on an assumption that predatory loans are a

         17  subset of all loans made by subprime lenders, and,

         18  thus, the community that receives a disproportionate

         19  number of loans from subprime lenders, also receives

         20  a disproportionate number of subprime loans.

         21                 Second, my research focuses on two

         22  things: The total number of applications these

         23  populations make to subprime lenders and the total

         24  number of loan origination subprime lenders make to

         25  these populations.
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          2                 Applications are a proxy for the

          3  efforts of lenders to do business in these

          4  populations and originations measure the amount of

          5  the business they do.

          6                 Third, I compare subprime lending in

          7  these populations to subprime lending and control

          8  groups. The control groups are predominantly white

          9  neighborhoods, upper-income (UI) neighborhoods,

         10  white persons and upper-income (UI) persons.

         11                 Fourth, I look at two sets of data.

         12  First, all residential real estate-related lending

         13  reported under the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act; and

         14  second, conventional home mortgage loans only.

         15                 Finally, the data is for 1999.

         16  Improvements in data collection requirements

         17  starting next year may make it possible for us to

         18  pinpoint predatory lending practices more precisely.

         19                 The following are the results:

         20                 Residential Real Estate-Related

         21  Lending. New York Metropolitan Area, 1999.

         22                 Percentage of applications submitted

         23  to subprime lenders.

         24                 Minority neighborhoods, 54.8.

         25                 White neighborhoods, 27.7.
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          2                 LMI neighborhoods, 47.4.

          3                 UI neighborhoods, 32.6.

          4                 Minority persons, 27.6.

          5                 White persons, 15.1.

          6                 LMI persons, 51.8.

          7                 UI persons, 28.8.

          8                 Percentage of loans originated by

          9  subprime lenders.

         10                 Minority neighborhoods, 26.0.

         11                 White neighborhoods, 8.6.

         12                 LMI neighborhoods, 19.0.

         13                 UI neighborhoods, 11.0.

         14                 Minority persons, 13.9.

         15                 White persons, 6.2.

         16                 LMI persons, 23.4.

         17                 UI persons, 11.5.

         18                 Conventional home mortgage lending

         19  New York metropolitan area, 1999.

         20                 Percentage of applications submitted

         21  to subprime lenders.

         22                 Minority neighborhoods, 30.5.

         23                 White neighborhoods, 7.5.

         24                 LMI neighborhoods, 26.9.

         25                 UI neighborhoods, 8.7.
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          2                 Minority persons, 12.3.

          3                 White persons, 4.5.

          4                 LMI persons, 17.9.

          5                 UI persons, 9.2.

          6                 Percentage of loans originated by

          7  subprime lenders.

          8                 Minority neighborhoods, 13.6.

          9                 White neighborhoods, 2.6.

         10                 LMI neighborhoods, 11.3.

         11                 UI neighborhoods, 3.0.

         12                 Minority persons, 5.1.

         13                 White persons, 1.9.

         14                 LMI persons, 5.6.

         15                 UI persons, 3.5.

         16                 The data show that subprime lending

         17  is disproportionately present in minority and LMI

         18  neighborhoods and persons than white and UI

         19  neighborhoods and persons, frequently by a factor of

         20  at least two. A minority neighborhood was more than

         21  three times more likely to receive subprime loans

         22  than white neighborhoods (26.0/8.6). An LMI

         23  neighborhood was nearly twice as likely to receive a

         24  subprime loan than an UI neighborhood (19.0/11.0). A

         25  minority persons was more than twice as likely to
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          2  receive a subprime loan as a white person

          3  (13.9/6.2), and an LMI person was also more than

          4  twice as likely to receive a subprime loan as a UI

          5  persons (23.4/11.5).

          6                 Regarding conventional home mortgage

          7  lending, the results are similar, if not more

          8  pronounced. Residents of minority neighborhoods were

          9  more than four times as likely to submit a

         10  conventional home mortgage loan application to a

         11  subprime lender than a resident of a white

         12  neighborhood (30.5/7.5) while they were more than

         13  five times more likely to receive a subprime loan

         14  than a resident of a white neighborhood (13.6/2.6).

         15  Residents of LMI neighborhoods were more than three

         16  times as likely to submit a loan application to a

         17  subprime lender (26.9/8.7) and nearly three times as

         18  likely to receive a loan from a subprime lender

         19  (11.3/3.0). Minority persons were nearly three times

         20  as likely to submit a conventional home mortgage

         21  loan application to a subprime lender (12.3/4.5) and

         22  nearly three times as likely to receive a subprime

         23  loan (5.1/1.9).

         24                 Finally, LMI persons were nearly

         25  twice as likely as UI persons to submit a
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          2  conventional home mortgage loan application to a

          3  subprime lender (17.9/9.2) and nearly twice as

          4  likely to receive a subprime loan (5.6/3.5).

          5                 In conclusion, Local Law Int. No. 67

          6  is essential to helping to curb predatory lending

          7  practices in New York City. Such practices, which

          8  harm all recipients of predatory loans, are

          9  particularly harmful among minority and LMI

         10  neighborhoods and persons.

         11

         12

         13  Written Testimony Of:

         14  Fred Griesbach

         15  AAR New York State Director.

         16

         17                 Introduction.

         18                 Good morning. My name is Fred

         19  Griesbach and I am the Acting Director for AARP in

         20  New York State.

         21                 AARP has over 2.5 million members in

         22  New York State and over 900,000 living in the five

         23  boroughs. I would like to begin our testimony today

         24  by thanking the New York City Council on behalf of

         25  our members in the City for holding this hearing.
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          2                 This hearing comes at a critical time

          3  and the issue is one that most certainly needs to be

          4  addressed.

          5                 Background.

          6                 The subprime (that is non-prime or

          7  below "A" rated credit) mortgage lending industry

          8  has grown significantly in recent years, expanding

          9  from a $35 billion industry in 1994 into a $140

         10  billion industry in 2000.

         11                 Several national studies over the

         12  last few years by the United States Departments of

         13  Housing and Urban Development and Treasury, as well

         14  as the Federal Reserve Board have found that there

         15  is growing evidence of predatory lending practices

         16  in the subprime market. This has been confirmed by

         17  many neighborhood organizations, credit unions, and

         18  legal aid attorneys. AARP has been working with

         19  these groups in New York City across the state and

         20  across the country.

         21                 As you know, predatory lending has

         22  emerged as a major area of concern for AARP at both

         23  the state and national level. The reason is quite

         24  simple. Predatory lending in the subprime market

         25  affects homeowners. Older persons are far more
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          2  likely to own their own homes. In a national survey

          3  conducted by AARP in 2000, 59 percent of those

          4  surveyed who were over 50 years of age owned their

          5  own homes. More than 70 percent of those whose

          6  incomes were below $30,000 owned their own homes

          7  free and clear.

          8                 Our members are more likely to be

          9  targets of predatory lending practices because of

         10  the substantial equity in their homes. They own

         11  their own homes and are often on fixed incomes and

         12  may need access to cash for home improvements or

         13  health care.

         14                 There is growing evidence that, for

         15  these reasons, older persons are specifically

         16  targeted by subprime lenders. Results of a recent

         17  study published in AARP's 2001 Data Digest showed

         18  that borrowers 65 years of age or older, were three

         19  times more likely to hold a subprime mortgage than

         20  borrowers less than 35 years old.

         21                 In addition, older women are more

         22  likely to borrow in the subprime market. Older

         23  female borrowers, according to AARP's Data Digest,

         24  hold 48 percent of subprime mortgages, but only 28

         25  percent of prime mortgages.
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          2                 We fully recognize that the subprime

          3  market provides access to credit for people who

          4  might not qualify for a prime loan. It is not our

          5  intention to eliminate the option of borrowing in

          6  the subprime market. Instead, our goal is to ensure

          7  that loans secured in the subprime market are

          8  appropriate for the individual's financial situation

          9  and needs.

         10                 In February, AARP's National

         11  Legislative Council heard testimony in Albany from

         12  community groups from across this state, including

         13  housing counselors, legal service providers,

         14  community development organizations and people

         15  losing their homes due to abusive and deceptive

         16  lending practices in the subprime market.

         17                 Those who spoke about losing their

         18  homes to predatory lending included a minister from

         19  Brooklyn, a disabled man from Buffalo, and a woman

         20  who migrated to the United States as a young child.

         21  She saved her whole adult life to buy a home, only

         22  to watch her dreams evaporate because of an

         23  unscrupulous contractor, and a very bad loan.

         24                 The stories are both tragic and

         25  preventable. AARP seeks to have enacted strong laws
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          2  at either the local or state level, strong laws to

          3  protect people from predatory lenders. This goal is

          4  within our grasp.

          5                 AARP would like to outline the

          6  critical aspects of any law or regulation to stop

          7  predatory lending, why we remain concerned about the

          8  limitations of New York State Part 41 Banking

          9  Department Regulations to stop predatory lending and

         10  the issue of the balance between consumer

         11  protections and the impact on the subprime market.

         12                 Protecting the Consumer.

         13                 From AARP's point of view, there are

         14  five basic, fundamental provisions essential in

         15  determining if a regulation or law is an effective

         16  deterrent to predatory lending.

         17                 Provisions AARP believe to be crucial

         18  in anti-predatory lending legislation are:

         19                 - Comprehensive High Cost Loan

         20  triggers for APR and points and fees.

         21                 - No exemptions for any financial

         22  institutions or consumer finance companies.

         23                 - Full liability of assignees - This

         24  provision ensures that borrowers can raise all

         25  claims and defenses regarding their loan against the
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          2  original lender, the broker, and any entity

          3  currently holding the note.

          4                 - Defense to Foreclosure - a borrower

          5  must be able to raise a defense in a proceeding if

          6  they were subjected to practices prohibited by the

          7  Act; and

          8                 - Prohibitions or limitations against

          9  certain acts and practices.

         10                 Real protection against predatory

         11  lending requires prohibitions on practices most

         12  commonly associated with predatory loans. Among the

         13  practices often cited as predatory practices are

         14  loan flipping, with no benefit to the borrower,

         15  packing, providing loans without due regard to

         16  ability to repay, mandatory arbitration clauses,

         17  misuse and lack of disclosing yield spread premiums,

         18  unaffordable balloon payments, and prepayment

         19  penalties.

         20                 There must be very specific

         21  prohibitions regarding these predatory practices.

         22  However, if the thresholds are not solid, if there

         23  is no assignee liability, and if there can be no

         24  defense against foreclosure, then the law becomes

         25  virtually unenforceable.
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          2                 Thresholds.

          3                 The thresholds will determine which

          4  loans are subject to the restrictions. Current HOEPA

          5  thresholds and New York State Banking Regulations

          6  cover a small portion of the mortgage market. A

          7  special survey by the Office of Thrift Supervision

          8  (OTS) estimates that the portion of subprime loans

          9  falling within the HOEPA annual percent rate with

         10  Regulation Z will only increase the subprime

         11  mortgage loans falling into the "high-cost" home

         12  loan category to about 5 percent. New York State

         13  Banking Regulation Part 41 has the same threshold.

         14                 While there has been general

         15  agreement that financing over 5 percent in points

         16  and fees is a trigger for a high cost loan, there

         17  has been no unanimity in determining what should be

         18  included in the definition of points and fees. AARP

         19  believes the definition of points and fees currently

         20  in Part 41 excludes fees that should be added such

         21  as all compensation paid directly or indirectly to a

         22  mortgage broker, the cost of all premiums financed

         23  by the lender for any credit life, credit

         24  disability, credit unemployment or credit property

         25  insurance, any other life or health insurance, and
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          2  prepayment fees.

          3                 Assignee Liability/Defense to

          4  Foreclosure.

          5                 One of the most important provisions

          6  for effective legislation involves assignee

          7  liability and defense against foreclosure. It is an

          8  essential protection for consumers. The insulation

          9  from liability is provided by the Holder-In-Due

         10  Course rule that is a part of every state's Uniform

         11  Commercial Code.

         12                 The Holder-In-Due Course rule

         13  completely protects the assignee from almost all

         14  liability for claims that the borrower may have

         15  against the original lender.

         16                 This means that if the lender commits

         17  fraud, unfair or deceptive trade practices,

         18  violations of other consumer protection statutes,

         19  the assignee can continue to insist upon payment of

         20  the loan, without having to answer for claims which

         21  might reduce - or even eliminate - the payments.

         22                 Fraud claims, usury claims, unfair

         23  and deceptive trade practice claims, etc., can

         24  rarely be raised against the holder of the note,

         25  even if the effect of such claims and defenses would
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          2  work as a defense to a foreclosure action.

          3                 In the passage of HOEPA, Congress

          4  recognized the problems with this rule and overruled

          5  it for HOEPA loans. Now assignees are generally

          6  liable for all the claims that a homeowner can bring

          7  regarding the HOEPA loan. Congress recognized

          8  applying assignee liability to high cost loans was

          9  the best way to force the secondary market to police

         10  the lenders with whom they did business.

         11                 The Federal Trade Commission had

         12  already recognized the inequities in this rule, and

         13  eliminated its effect for the purchase of consumer

         14  goods or services, in its Preservation of Consumer

         15  Claims and Defenses Rule. Congress also limited the

         16  holder rule somewhat for certain credit card

         17  purchases.

         18                 Lenders will vigorously argue that

         19  limiting the holder rule on home loans will dry up

         20  credit in the legitimate home equity loans. This

         21  argument is without merit. The subprime mortgage

         22  industry vigorously fought this protection in HOEPA,

         23  and there is no lack of high cost credit available.

         24  The credit industry also opposed applying the FTC

         25  Rule, making predictions about how the auto
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          2  financing market would disappear. The auto financing

          3  market is stronger than ever, and its very health

          4  should prove that the only creditors the elimination

          5  of the holder rule would drive out of business are

          6  unscrupulous lenders.

          7                 Elimination of the holder rule will

          8  force the subprime lending industry to do more

          9  self-policing. If assignees of high cost mortgages

         10  will be clearly liable for the claims the borrowers

         11  have against the originators, the holders will more

         12  carefully screen those with whom they do business.

         13  That will dry up the financial lifeline that has

         14  enabled the predatory lenders to operate.

         15                 If these elements - effective

         16  thresholds, assignee liability and defense against

         17  foreclosure - can be combined with tough

         18  prohibitions on the specific practices, New York

         19  will have the kind of legislation necessary to

         20  protect consumers in the subprime market.

         21                 To its credit, New York has already

         22  taken some steps in this area.

         23                 New York State Banking Department's

         24  Part 41 regulations provide a framework for

         25  protection.
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          2                 However, these regulations do not

          3  adequately address the full range of concerns raised

          4  by AARP and other consumer groups.

          5                 AARP has the following concerns: The

          6  definition of points and fees is not comprehensive

          7  enough. Specifications concerning the ability to

          8  repay provision are based more on equity. A

          9  well-known loophole in the regulations is the

         10  financing of single premium credit insurance. Both

         11  consumer groups and the federal government have

         12  labeled this practice as predatory. CitiFinancial

         13  and Household have both abandoned this practice in

         14  New York State, yet Part 41 still allows it.

         15                 When Part 41 regulations were

         16  proposed, AARP joined several other consumer

         17  organizations and requested certain changes to

         18  strengthen the regulations. Not one of those

         19  recommendations was accepted by the Banking

         20  Department.

         21                 There are significant elements in the

         22  regulations, however, the regulations do not go far

         23  enough.

         24                 Moreover, regardless of how strong

         25  the regulations are, they cannot address the issue
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          2  of a defense against foreclosure, nor do they

          3  address issues of claims by the borrower. People who

          4  fall victim to predatory lending practices must have

          5  recourse to protect their homes. AARP cannot

          6  underscore this point enough.

          7                 The debate around what to do about

          8  predatory lending has often centered on the balance

          9  between protecting consumers and having available

         10  credit in the subprime market.

         11                 AARP has over 900,000 members in New

         12  York City, we have no desire to see lenders exit.

         13  However, we are firmly convinced that strong

         14  anti-predatory lending legislation will not result

         15  in a drying up of credit.

         16                 Strong anti-predatory lending

         17  legislation was passed in North Carolina in 1999.

         18  The experience in North Carolina has shown that

         19  after the enactment of the legislation, subprime

         20  mortgage credit is still widely available. There has

         21  been no discernible decrease in mortgage credit

         22  availability, nor any increase in the cost of

         23  mortgage credit in that state.

         24                 The Coalition for Responsible Lending

         25  in North Carolina analyzed data from 1999-2000
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          2  regarding loans reported under the Home Mortgage

          3  Disclosure Act to determine if home equity credit

          4  had been reduced in their state after passage of the

          5  anti-predatory lending bill.

          6                 The answer to this question was

          7  unequivocally "No." In fact, North Carolina had 15

          8  percent more subprime home loans per capita than the

          9  rest of the nation as a whole in 2000 - the year

         10  after its Predatory Lending Law went into effect.

         11                 Also, the January 5, 2001 edition of

         12  Inside Mortgage Finance reported that North

         13  Carolina's share of the secondary subprime market

         14  "actually nudged slightly higher" in the six months

         15  after the law was passed.

         16                 As the Federal Reserve Board recently

         17  said in its passage of new regulations under

         18  HOEPA:"A borrower does not benefit from expanded

         19  access to credit if the credit is offered on unfair

         20  terms, the repayment costs are unaffordable, or the

         21  loan involves predatory practices. Because consumers

         22  who obtain subprime mortgage loans have, or perceive

         23  they have, fewer options than other borrowers, they

         24  may be more vulnerable to unscrupulous lenders or

         25  brokers."
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          2                 Conclusion.

          3                 For AARP, this issue will not go

          4  away. In New York, passage of strong anti-predatory

          5  lending legislation either at the state or local

          6  level is the best way to assure that the options

          7  that are available to borrowers in the subprime

          8  market are affordable and reasonable. AARP looks

          9  forward to working with you on this issue and we

         10  thank you for allowing us the opportunity to speak

         11  to you today.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 4:43 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 1st day of April 2002.
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